
 
 
 
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk 
Direct line: 01403 215465 
 

 
Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   Horsham.gov.uk   Chief Executive – Jane Eaton 
 
 

222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

1

Planning Committee (North) 
 
Tuesday, 7th February, 2023 at 5.30 pm 
Conference Room, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham 
 
Councillors: John Milne (Chairman) 

Clive Trott (Vice-Chairman) 
 Matthew Allen 

Andrew Baldwin 
Tony Bevis 
Martin Boffey 
Toni Bradnum 
Alan Britten 
Karen Burgess 
Peter Burgess 
Christine Costin 
Ruth Fletcher 
Billy Greening 
Tony Hogben 
Liz Kitchen 
Lynn Lambert 
 

Richard Landeryou 
Gordon Lindsay 
Tim Lloyd 
Colin Minto 
Christian Mitchell 
Jon Olson 
Louise Potter 
Sam Raby 
Stuart Ritchie 
David Skipp 
Ian Stannard 
Claire Vickers 
Belinda Walters 
Tricia Youtan 
 

 
You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business 

 
Jane Eaton 

Chief Executive 
Agenda 
 

   
Page No. 

GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE  
1.  Apologies for absence 

 
 

 
2.  Minutes 7 - 12 
 To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2023. 

(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they 
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24 
hours before the meeting.  Where applicable, the audio recording of the 
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.) 
 

 

 
3.  Declarations of Members' Interests  
 To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee  

 
 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk


 
 

  
4.  Announcements  
 To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the 

Chief Executive 
 
 

 

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development & Building Control and to take 
such action thereon as may be necessary: 
  
5.  Appeals 

 
13 - 14 

Applications for determination by Committee: 
  

6.  DC/21/2873 Nowhurst Business Park, Guildford Road, Broadbridge Heath 15 - 54 
 Ward: Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham 

Applicant: Norman Marshall Ltd 
 

 

 
7.  DC/22/2037 Honeywood House, Horsham Road, Rowhook, Horsham 55 - 72 
 Ward: Rudgwick 

Applicant: Mr Scott Davies 
 

 

 
8.  DC/22/1474 Roffey Football Club, Bartholomew Way, Horsham 73 - 80 
 Ward: Holbrook East 

Applicant: Roffey Football Club 
 

 

 
9.  Urgent Business  
 Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion 

should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances 
 

 

 



GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 
 

(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution) 
 

Addressing the 
Committee 

Members must address the meeting through the Chair.  When the 
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at 
the time must stop.  
 

Minutes Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the 
minutes only. 
 

Quorum Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If 
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately. 
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the 
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be 
considered at the next committee meeting. 
 

Declarations of 
Interest 
 

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and 
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or 
pecuniary).  If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting. 
 

Announcements These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no 
debate/decisions. 
 

Appeals 
 

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed 
in the agenda. 
 

Agenda Items 
 

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring 
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is 
proposed and finishing with the recommendation. 
 

Public Speaking on 
Agenda Items 
(Speakers must give 
notice by not later than 
noon two working 
days before the date 
of the meeting)  

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes 
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the 
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall 
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the 
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall 
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of 
the Chairman. 
 

Rules of Debate  The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules 
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final. 
 
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain 

purpose) and seconded 
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to 

him/her before it is discussed 
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate 
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or 

a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at 
the discretion of the Chairman) 

- A Member may not speak again except: 
o On an amendment to a motion 
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been 

amended since he/she last spoke 
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the 

main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried) 
o In exercise of a right of reply.  Mover of original motion 

Page 3

Agenda Annex



has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion 
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on 
amendment).  Mover of amendment has no right of reply. 

o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of 
Council Procedure Rules or law.  Chairman must hear 
the point of order immediately.  The ruling of the 
Chairman on the matter will be final. 

o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier 
speech by the Member which may appear to have been 
misunderstood.  The Chairman’s ruling on the 
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final. 

- Amendments to motions must be to: 
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for 

(re)consideration 
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as 

this does not negate the motion) 
- One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided 

upon. 
- Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which 

further amendments may be moved. 
- A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the 

consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified 
without discussion). 

-  A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the 
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified 
without discussion). 

- The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate 
on the motion (unamended or amended). 

 
Alternative Motion to 
Approve 
 

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application 
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is 
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a 
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and 
Members will then vote on the original recommendation. 
 

Alternative Motion to 
Refuse  

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application 
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the 
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative 
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property 
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for 
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will 
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on 
the original recommendation. 
 

Voting Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show 
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless: 
- Two Members request a recorded vote  
- A recorded vote is required by law. 
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be 
recorded in the minutes. 
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or 
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue). 
 

Vice-Chairman 
 

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is 
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the Vice-
Chairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above. 
 

 
Page 4



 

 

Original recommendation to APPROVE application 

Members in support during debate   Members not in support during debate    
     

 

                                Vote on original recommendation  Member to move   Member to move   Member to move 
          alternative motion alternative motion alternative motion 
              to APPROVE with  to REFUSE and give to DEFER and give   
     amended condition(s) planning reasons reasons (e.g. further              
 Majority in favour?  Majority against? information required) 
 Original recommendation Original recommendation 
 carried – APPROVED    not carried – THIS IS NOT  

    A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION             Another Member Another Member Another member 
         seconds  seconds  seconds 
 
 
           Director considers 
           planning reasons 
 
 
    Vote on alternative  If reasons are valid If reasons are not valid  Vote on alternative 
    motion to APPROVE with vote on alternative VOTE ON ORIGINAL    motion to DEFER 
    amended condition(s)  motion to REFUSE1 RECOMMENDATION*   
            
 
Majority in favour? Majority against? Majority in favour? Majority against?  Majority in favour? Majority against? 
Alternative motion Alternative motion Alternative motion Alternative motion  Alternative motion Alternative motion 
to APPROVE with to APPROVE with to REFUSE carried to REFUSE not carried  to DEFER carried to DEFER not carried 
amended condition(s) amended condition(s) - REFUSED  - VOTE ON ORIGINAL  - DEFERRED  - VOTE ON ORIGINAL 
carried – APPROVED not carried – VOTE ON    RECOMMENDATION*     RECOMMENDATION* 
   ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION* 
 
*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated 

 
1 Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely. 

P
age 5



 

 

Original recommendation to REFUSE application 
 

Members in support during debate   Members not in support during debate    
     

 

                                Vote on original recommendation     Member to move   Member to move 
             alternative motion alternative motion 
                 to APPROVE and give to DEFER and give   
        planning reasons2 reasons (e.g. further              
 Majority in favour?  Majority against? information required) 
 Original recommendation Original recommendation 
 carried – REFUSED   not carried – THIS IS NOT AN 

    APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION                 Another Member Another member 
            seconds  seconds 
 
 
           Director considers 
           planning reasons 
 
 
        If reasons are valid If reasons are not valid  Vote on alternative 
        vote on alternative VOTE ON ORIGINAL    motion to DEFER 
        motion to APPROVE RECOMMENDATION*   
            
 
      Majority in favour? Majority against?  Majority in favour? Majority against? 
      Alternative motion Alternative motion  Alternative motion Alternative motion 
      to APPROVE carried to APPROVE not carried  to DEFER carried to DEFER not carried 
      - APPROVED  - VOTE ON ORIGINAL  - DEFERRED  - VOTE ON ORIGINAL 
         RECOMMENDATION*     RECOMMENDATION* 
 
*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated 

 
2 Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71 

P
age 6



 

 
1 

 

Planning Committee (North) 
10 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

Present: Councillors: John Milne (Chairman), Clive Trott (Vice-Chairman), 
Matthew Allen, Toni Bradnum, Alan Britten, Karen Burgess, 
Peter Burgess, Ruth Fletcher, Billy Greening, Tony Hogben, 
Liz Kitchen, Lynn Lambert, Richard Landeryou, Tim Lloyd, Colin Minto, 
Christian Mitchell, Jon Olson, Louise Potter, Stuart Ritchie, 
David Skipp, Ian Stannard, Claire Vickers and Belinda Walters 
 

 
Apologies: Councillors: Andrew Baldwin, Tony Bevis, Martin Boffey, 

Christine Costin, Gordon Lindsay, Sam Raby and Tricia Youtan 
   

 
  

PCN/41   MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2022 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
  

PCN/42   DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
  

PCN/43   ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
There were no announcements. 
  

PCN/44   APPEALS 
 
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions , as 
circulated were noted. 
  

PCN/45   DC/22/0708 LAND PARCEL AT 521897 SANDYGATE LANE, LOWER 
BEEDING 
 
  
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application 
sought full planning permission for the erection of 22 dwellings with associated 
landscaping, parking and new access point from Sandgate Lane. 
  
Planning permission would be subject to appropriate conditions and the 
completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement. 
  
The site is located to the north-west of Lower Beeding, adjoining and partly in 
the defined built up area boundary of the village. Lower Beeding is located 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 Planning Committee (North) 
10 January 2023 

 

 
2 

approximately 3.5 miles southeast of Horsham and is on the peripheries of the 
High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
  
The wider area is characterised by residential housing within the village to the 
south east and wider countryside to the north and west. The recent Trinity 
Fields development is located opposite the site comprising 31 homes.  
  
Since the publication of the committee report an amendment was made to 
paragraph 6.5 where the latest Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) from 
December 2022 amended the Councils housing land supply from 4 years to 3 
years. 
  
During three consultation periods a total of 37 letters of representation had 
been received objecting to the proposal. The Parish Council objected to the 
proposal. 
  
Members noted the planning history of the application. 
  
One speaker spoke in support of the application. 
  
Members acknowledged the site was selected for housing development in the 
emerging Neighbourhood Plan however were concerned the plan had not been 
fully approved. Officers advised the application needed to be considered under 
current planning policy, the plan had been examined and recommended to 
proceed to referendum and this held significant weight in decision making.  
  
Consideration was also given to proposed increases in traffic, parking 
requirements on the development and water neutrality.  
  
Members discussed the proposed pedestrian footpath link and connectivity of 
the site to the village and local neighbourhood. It was felt that improvements 
could be further pursued eastwards from the site. 
  
It was therefore proposed and seconded to explore the feasibility of including an 
additional pedestrian link from the site towards the eastern boundary. 
  
  
            RESOLVED 
  
That application DC/22/0708 be approved subject to the completion of a 
Section 106 Legal Agreement and delegated to the Head of Building & 
Development Control subject to further exploration of a pedestrian link 
eastwards from the site in consultation with local Members, Chairman and Vice 
Chairman of Planning North Committee. 
  
  
  
 
 
  

Page 8



Planning Committee (North) 
10 January 2023 

3 

 

 
3 

PCN/46   DC/21/2028 HORSHAM CAR CENTRE, 264A CRAWLEY ROAD, HORSHAM 
 
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application 
sought planning permission for change of use of the car showroom (sui generis) 
to a retail unit (Class E (a)) with extensions to the ground floor and associated 
parking.  
  
The application site is located to the east of Crawley Road within the built up 
area boundary of Horsham. The site comprises a vacant single storey building 
used previously as a car showroom set back from the road. Access is provided 
by an existing dropped kerb along the road frontage, with two storey semi 
detached properties located to the south of the site. 
  
Consideration of DC/21/2028 was returned to committee following a judicial 
review where the Councils decision was quashed. 
  
Members noted the planning history of the site. 
  
Since the publication of the Committee report a further objection had been 
received regarding traffic, congestion and parking concerns. 
  
25 letters of objection had been received from 6 individual addresses. The 
Parish Council raised no objections in principle to the proposal. 
  
Three speakers spoke in objection to the proposal and the agent spoke in 
support. 
  
Discussion considered both items DC/21/2028 and DC/22/0785 which was also 
determined at this meeting. 
  
Members acknowledged the proposal would provide some economic and social 
benefits to the area. 
It was however strongly felt that the proposal was too big, parking provision for 
the site was inadequate and there were substantial road safety concerns.  
West Sussex County Council had undertaken a Road Safety Audit and deemed 
the site acceptable however Members felt the proposal was sited on a 
dangerous junction and traffic flow would greatly increase on an already busy 
road. 
  
It was therefore proposed and seconded to refuse the application. 
  
             
            RESOLVED 
  
That application DC/21/2028 be refused for the following reasons: 
  

1)     The proposed development would provide an inadequate level of off-
street parking, to the detriment of neighbour amenity, contrary to Policies 
33 and 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

Page 9



 Planning Committee (North) 
10 January 2023 

 

 
4 

  
2)     The proposal would result in overdevelopment of the site and would 

have a harmful impact on the amenity, character and appearance of the 
area, contrary to Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 
(2015). 

  
PCN/47   DC/22/0785 HORSHAM CAR CENTRE, 264A CRAWLEY ROAD, HORSHAM 

 
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application 
sought full planning permission for the change of use of the car showroom (sui 
generis) to a retail unit (Class E (a)) with extensions to the ground floor and 
associated parking. 
  
The proposal would include single storey extensions to the southern and 
eastern elevations, alterations to the external fenestration and internal 
alterations. An ATM was proposed as an addition to the front elevation. 
  
The application site is located to the east of Crawley Road within the built up 
area boundary of Horsham. The site comprises a single storey building used 
previously as a car show room set back from the road. Access is provided by an 
existing dropped kerb along the road frontage, with two semi detached 
properties located to the south of the site. 
  
Members noted the planning history of the site. 
  
14 letters of objection had been received from 6 individual addresses. The 
Parish Council raised no objections in principle to the proposal. 
  
Three speakers spoke in objection to the proposal and the agent spoke in 
support. 
  
Discussion considered both items DC/22/0785 and DC/21/2028 which was also 
determined at this meeting. 
  
Members acknowledged the proposal would provide some economic and social 
benefits to the area. 
It was however strongly felt that the proposal was too big, parking provision for 
the site was inadequate and there were substantial road safety concerns.  
Members felt even though hours of operation would be restricted for the 
proposed ATM it would attract additional traffic with insufficient parking. 
  
West Sussex County Council had undertaken a Road Safety Audit and deemed 
the site acceptable however Members felt the proposal was sited on a 
dangerous junction and traffic flow would greatly increase on an already busy 
road. 
  
  
It was therefore proposed and seconded to refuse the application. 
  

Page 10



Planning Committee (North) 
10 January 2023 

5 

 

 
5 

             
            RESOLVED 
  
That application DC/22/0785 be refused for the following reasons: 
  

1)     The proposed development would provide an inadequate level of off-
street parking, to the detriment of neighbour amenity, contrary to Policies 
33 and 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

  
2)     The proposal would result in overdevelopment of the site and would 

have a harmful impact on the amenity, character and appearance of the 
area, contrary to Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 
(2015). 

  
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 7.30 pm having commenced at 5.30 pm 
 
 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Committee (NORTH) 
Date: 7th February 2023 
 
Report on Appeals: 16/12/2022 – 25/01/2023 
 
 
1. Appeals Lodged 
 
Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following 
appeals have been lodged: 
 

Ref No. Site Date 
Lodged 

Officer 
Recommendation 

Committee 
Resolution 

DC/22/0950 

Hele Farm 
Sandhills Road 
Barns Green 
Horsham 
West Sussex 
RH13 0PU 

31-Dec-22 Application 
Refused N/A 

DC/22/1303 

5 Fordingbridge Close 
Horsham 
West Sussex 
RH12 1JN 

05-Jan-23 Application 
Refused N/A 

DC/22/1190 

Swaynes Farm Barn 
Guildford Road 
Rudgwick 
Horsham 
West Sussex 
RH12 3JD 

09-Jan-23 Application 
Refused N/A 

DC/21/2481 

Land North of Lyons Road  
Lyons Road 
Slinfold 
RH13 0RX 

20-Jan-23 Application 
Refused N/A 

 
 
2. Appeals started 
 
Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period: 
 

Ref No. Site Appeal 
Procedure Start Date Officer 

Recommendation 
Committee 
Resolution 

DC/21/2855 

Carylls 
Faygate Lane 
Faygate 
Horsham 
West Sussex 
RH12 4SN 

Written 
Representation 19-Jan-23 Application 

Refused N/A 

DC/22/0756 

Amiesmill Farm 
Kerves Lane 
Horsham 
West Sussex 
RH13 6RL 

Written 
Representation 24-Jan-23 

Prior Approval 
Required and 
REFUSED 

N/A 

 
 
  Page 13

Agenda Item 5



3. Appeal Decisions 
 
HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that 
the following appeals have been determined: 
 

Ref No. Site Appeal 
Procedure Decision Officer 

Recommendation 
Committee 
Resolution 

DC/22/0062 

Westbrook Lodge 
Bognor Road 
Broadbridge Heath 
Horsham 
West Sussex 
RH12 3PT 

Fast Track Appeal 
Dismissed 

Application 
Refused N/A 

 

Page 14



Contact Officer: Angela Moore Tel: 01403 215288 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT 

 

TO: Planning Committee North 

BY: Head of Development and Building Control 

DATE: 07 February 2022 

DEVELOPMENT: 

Outline application for the development of up to 26,942 sq m (GIA) for Use 
Class E (g, iii), B2 and B8 employment uses with ancillary offices, car 
parking and service yard areas with associated drainage works, site re-
profiling and landscaping. All matters reserved for future determination 
except access.  
 

SITE: Nowhurst Business Park Guildford Road Broadbridge Heath West Sussex     

WARD: Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham 

APPLICATION: DC/21/2873 

APPLICANT: Name: Norman Marshall Ltd   Address: c/o Agent  

 
REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households 

have made written representations within the 
consultation period raising material planning 
considerations that are inconsistent with the 
recommendation of the Head of Development 
and Building Control. 

 
By request of Slinfold Parish Council 

 
By request of Councillor Youtan  

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: To approve outline planning permission subject to appropriate conditions 

and the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement. In the event that 
the legal agreement is not completed within three months of the decision 
of this Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to refuse 
permission on the grounds of failure to secure the obligations necessary 
to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

 
 
1. THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 

 
To consider the planning application. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



1.1 The application seeks to renew a previous Outline planning application (granted under 
DC/17/2131) which expired on 27 February 2022. The application seeks renewed permission 
for the same quantum of development as the previous planning permission, for development 
of up to 26,942sqm (GIA) for E (g. iii) (industrial processes), B2 (general industrial) and B8 
(storage and distribution) employment uses with ancillary offices, car parking, associated 
drainage works, landscaping and service yard areas. As before, all detailed matters are 
reserved, except for access to the site. 
 

1.2 The proposal is effectively a resubmission of the previously permitted scheme, save for three 
main changes, which are as follows: 

 
i. That any permission has a duration of 5 years (instead of 3) to allow for 

sufficient time to secure development of the site in its entirety; and 
 
ii. Amendment to the night-time operating restrictions for Zone 1 only, at the site, 

to allow for activity on the external areas within this zone over the night-time 
period. 

 
iii. The previous proposal for Class B1c (light industrial) units has now been 

replaced with a proposal for Class E (g. iii) units in line with the national 
changes to the Use Class Order which was updated in September 2020.   

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE  
 

1.3 The site is currently unused, but is a previous industrial and landfill site of circa 11.1ha, with 
direct access off the A281. The principal activities on the site have historically taken place 
on the southernmost part of the site adjacent to Nowhurst Lane. These have included light 
industrial activities within a series of low-key buildings, and outside storage and light 
industrial uses across the southern part of the wider site (including use as a civil engineering 
depot with open storage of vehicles and building materials, vehicle salvage and repairs, 
maintenance training of railway vehicles). The main part of the site was previously used as 
landfill. 
 

1.4 The access road runs west from the roundabout on the A281, flanked to both sides by 7m 
high artificial bunds, before turning south towards the main part of the site. The area west of 
the access road forms uneven scrubland that falls away to the west. An artificial bund defines 
the northern site boundary, and woodland delineates the western site boundary. There are 
extensive views of open countryside from the elevated parts of the site, particularly to the 
northwest. Dense woodland to the west of the river valley partially screens the site from a 
public right of way that runs parallel with the western site boundary at a separation of 200m.     
 

1.5 The southern boundary of the site is formed of close boarded fencing that immediately abuts 
Nowhurst Lane. Nowhurst Lane is rural in character, with a mix of cottage-style dwellings set 
along its northern side, and woodland to its southern side. The woodland includes public 
footpaths and a campsite.  Nowhurst Lane itself is a bridleway. Two grade II listed buildings, 
Smithawe Farm and Old Strood, sit close to the south-eastern site boundary, separated from 
the site by a large bund set within woodland. A further grade II listed building, Farlington 
School, sits to the east of the site to the opposite side of the A281.  
 

1.6 The nearest residential properties abut the site along Nowhurst Lane, with Quarries set 
adjacent to the southwest boundary and Smithawe Farm and The Cowshed adjacent to the 
southeast boundary. Further properties sit in relatively close proximity to the east along 
Nowhurst Lane, including Old Strood, Old Strood Farmhouse and Warrens View. 
Brackensfield Farm and Brookhurst Farm sit to the south and north of the site entrance 
respectively, with Farlington Lodge opposite the A281 to the east. The nearest properties to 
the northwest are some 400m distant, and to the southwest some 200m distant.     

 

Page 16



 
2. INTRODUCTION 
 
2.1 STATUTORY BACKGROUND 
 

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
2.2 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 

 
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2021) 
 
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF, 2015) 
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development  
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development  
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy 
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion  
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth  
Policy 9 - Employment Development  
Policy 10 - Rural Economic Development  
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection  
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character  
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection  
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity  
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development  
Policy 33 - Development Principles  
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets  
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change  
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use  
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction  
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding  
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport  
Policy 41 - Parking  
 
West Sussex Joint Minerals Local Plan (2018) 
Policy M9 - Safeguarding Minerals 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD (2017) 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2017) 
 
Parish Design Statement: 
Slinfold Parish Design Statement (2006) 
 

 
2.3 RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

 
The Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan was formally made in June 2018, and forms part of the 
Council’s Local Development Plan. The main policy with the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan 
that is relevant to this site is Policy 11: Existing Employment Centres, as follows: 
 
‘Development proposals which seek to maintain or enhance the existing employment 
centres at Nowhurst Business Park, Maydwell Avenue, Spring Copse, Lyons Farm and 
Bramble Hill (as identified on PDS 13: Existing Employment Centre) will be 
supported subject to no unacceptable impact on highway safety and local amenity’ 
 

Page 17



In addition, paragraph 6.3 of the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan recognises the district-wide 
importance of Nowhurst Business Park as a strategic employment site. 
 

 
2.4 PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS   

DC/17/2131 Outline application for the development of up to 
26,942 sq m (gross internal area) for B1c (industrial 
processes), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage 
and distribution) employment uses with ancillary 
offices, car parking, associated drainage works, 
landscaping and service yard areas. All matters 
reserved except for access. 

Application Permitted on 
27.02.2019 
 

 
DISC/19/0100 Approval of details reserved by conditions 4 (phasing 

plan), 5 (final land levels), 8 (tree protection), 9 
(Construction Environment Management Plan), 10 
part (a) only (contamination) and 11 (Ecological 
Mitigation and Management Plan) on DC/17/2131 
(outline application for 26,942 sq m B1c, B2, B8 
employment uses) pertaining to preliminary works to 
prepare the site for development, Phase 1 (site 
entrance), and early planting works along Nowhurst 
Lane ONLY. 

Condition Details 
Permitted on 13.09.2019 
 

 
DISC/19/0342 Approval of REVISED details reserved by condition 9 

(Construction Environment Management Plan) on 
DC/17/2131 (outline application for the development 
of up to 26,942 sq m (gross internal area) for B1c, B2 
and B8 employment uses) pertaining to preliminary 
works to prepare the site for development, Phase 1 
(site entrance) and early planting works along 
Nowhurst Lane ONLY 

Condition Details 
Permitted on 23.12.2019 
 

 
DISC/20/0152 Approval of details reserved by condition 10 (a), (b) 

and (c) on DC/17/2131 (Outline application for the 
development of up to 26,942 sq m (gross internal 
area) for B1c (industrial processes), B2 (general 
industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution)), for the 
site as a whole.  

Condition Details 
Permitted on 15.09.2020 
 

DC/16/2941 Development of up to 27,882 sqm (gross internal 
area) for B1c (industrial processes), B2 (general 
industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution) uses with 
ancillary offices, car parking and service yard areas 
with associated drainage works, site re-profiling, and 
landscaping (outline application with all matters 
reserved except access) 

Application Refused on 
02.06.2017 
 

 
 
3. OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS 
 
 Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have 

had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public 
file at www.horsham.gov.uk  

 
 INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS 

 
  

Page 18

http://www.horsham.gov.uk/


3.1 HDC Drainage Engineer: No Objection  
[Summary]: No overall objection. Suitable drainage conditions should be applied, including 
conditions to require evidence to show that an agreement is in place for the ongoing 
maintenance of any SuDS systems. Ordinary Watercourse Consent from the Environment 
Agency will be required.  
 

3.2 HDC Economic Development: Support 
[Summary]: Strong support is given for additional Class E, B2 and B8 employment 
floorspace, and the renewal of the existing planning permission to enable this development 
to come to fruition. The development would provide modern, good quality commercial units 
which will be essential for supporting existing and new businesses. The flexible approach to 
cater for a range of occupiers is also welcomed by Economic Development. The 
development would also lead to additional employment opportunities.  

 
3.3 HDC Environmental Health: Objection  

[Summary]: The noise assessment assumes distribution of HGV movements (one per hour) 
which may not reflect the desire of future occupiers, and may also be difficult to regulate 
through condition. Permitting 24-hour external activity is likely to significantly alter the 
character of the rural area which is otherwise very quiet and dark at night. As the locality is 
so quiet at night, noise is likely to be readily discernible even if it is not "significantly" loud as 
defined in the relevant noise guidance. The introduction of night-time activity would 
fundamentally alter the character of the area by introducing activities atypical to the existing 
night-time character of the locality. 
 
The introduction of lighting necessary to ensure safe night time operations will introduce sky 
glow. The lighting strategy refers to the lorry areas and the lighting that would be necessary, 
which doesn’t accord with 24 hour operation. 
 
The broader context has to be considered rather than just noise impacts. The noise impacts 
from the limited external activity as modelled in the noise survey may be unlikely to be 
harmful to health, but that doesn’t make it desirable or appropriate given the speculative 
nature of the development proposals. It remains the view of the officer that the conditions 
attached to the consented development represent the right balance between the applicant’s 
desire to market the development as widely as possible and the protection of the amenity 
and character of the area. 
 

3.4 HDC Landscape Architect: Comment  
[Summary]: Many of the previous comments from DC/17/2131 are relevant to this application 
and should be taking into account, in particular those related to the ‘parameter plans’ and 
discussion on eaves heights.  
• It is noted that the ‘Additional Proposed Landscape Zone’ has been removed from the 

submitted Parameter Plan, which is not acceptable (*UPDATE* this has now been 
amended). 

• Indicative landscape and site sections were submitted previously and should be 
submitted in support of this proposal (*UPDATE* these have now been submitted).  

• A Wireframe Massing Model should be added to the LVA as was done previously 
(*UPDATE* the LVA has now been amended to include this). 

• Please consider conditioning the early delivery of planting within the ‘Additional Proposed 
Landscape Zone’. 

  
[Summary of Landscape Comments from DC/17/2131]: 
• The Parameter Plan has been revised and provides certainty that a suitable scheme can 

be developed.   
• The 6m wide landscape buffer along the north boundary together with appropriate 

planting and building materials should provide satisfactory screening to views from the 

Page 19



nearby public footpaths. Whilst an 8m wide buffer here is preferred, this could be 
reviewed subject at reserved matters stage. 

• A reduced eaves area of 8m has been proposed. It would be preferred if this referred to 
a maximum eave height of 8m fronting Nowhurst Lane, and 6m towards the Quarries 
Bungalow to reflect the sensitivity of this boundary. Alternatively, this could be secured 
by condition. 

• Concerns remain over the little amount of landscape proposed and how successful the 
proposed landscape platforms will be. Within zone 1 there are still concerns over the 
amount the ground is being raised and how much that will expose the development. 
Despite this, additional planting along the western boundary is considered positive and 
this in conjunction with a suitable cladding material to the building might be sufficient. 

• An alternative lighting scheme should be provided to reduce the number of columns to a 
minimum, in favour of level lighting such as bollards.  

 
3.5 HDC Conservation Officer: Comment 

[Summary]: Following confirmation from WSCC that the site is effectively sterile, I raise no 
objection on these grounds. Please refer to the previous Conservation Officer’s comments 
regarding DC/17/2131. The application should be determined with regard to paragraph 202 
of the NPPF. 
 
[Summary of Heritage Comments from DC/17/2131]:  
• Whilst amendments have been made to reduce the height of the large building to the 

southern area of the site, the development is still considered too intensive.  
• The development would be at odds with the existing character of the immediate context, 

and the more intensive use of the site would erode the existing tranquil character that 
can be enjoyed at present. 

• The unit close to the Nowhurst Lane frontage would compete and conflict with scale, 
character and appearance of the listed buildings and the presence of the building would 
detract from the rural character and appearance of their setting. 

• The proposal would introduce a much more intensive use of the site with huge buildings 
standing more prominently within the site and its surroundings.  

• It is considered that the scheme would have a less than substantial impact on the setting 
of the listed buildings and contrary to para 134 of the NPPF, it appears that there would 
not be any tangible public benefit to the scheme which would offset that harm. Any harm 
is given significant weight in the planning balance and it is considered that the proposed 
development would have a permanent and irreversible impact on the rural setting. 

 
 
 OUTSIDE AGENCIES 

 
3.6 WSCC Highways: No Objection  

[Summary]: Having assessed the latest TA and having regard for the previously history at 
the site namely the most recent 2017 application the LHA raise no objection to the proposals 
from the highway point of view subject to conditions.  
• Access - the access strategy remains comparable to the 2017 proposal (via a roundabout 

onto the A281). Two new bus stops with crossing facilities to the site are provided either 
side of the site access. As with the 2017 application, there would be no concerns with 
the current proposals. Swept path analysis indicates that the movement of HGV’s can be 
suitability accommodated within the access layout. 

• Junction Modelling - modelling has been updated from 2017, the results of which are 
accepted, and no additional mitigation is required. TRICS assessment has been 
undertaken, The maximum ‘worst-case’ additional traffic volumes are approximately 277 
(am) and 236 (pm) two-way vehicle movements during peak hours. We are satisfied with 
the assessments undertaken. 

• Parking – to be provided in accordance with WSCC parking standards. The indicative 

Page 20



layouts indicate that sufficient spaces can be accommodated on site. WSCC standards 
for EV provision have been followed (20% of spaces would have ‘active’ EVC points, with 
the remaining 80% fitted with ‘passive’ infrastructure). The LHA are satisfied with this 
approach. 

• Travel Plan - the previously approved Travel Plan has been updated, and now includes 
additional sustainable elements such as EVC charging. 

• Conditions – (1) cycle parking, (2) construction management plan, (3) Travel Plan to be 
approved.  

• S106 – as per the 2017 application, the proposed shuttle service would need to be 
secured in a legal agreement.  

 
3.7 WSCC Minerals and Waste: No Objection 

[Summary]: Following previous comments, the applicant has submitted a Minerals 
Assessment. The submitted Mineral Assessment opines that, owing to the previous 
excavations for Horsham Stone at the site and its subsequent use as a landfill site, the site 
area appears to be devoid of any significant mineral resources of Horsham Stone up to a 
depth of around 3-4m. Similarly, the data collected does not reveal any meaningful deposits 
of Weald Clay. As such, given the low priority of the Weald Clay resource (owing to its 
abundance within the county) and the relative lack of Horsham Stone at the site, we are 
satisfied that the applicant has sufficiently demonstrated that prior extraction would not be 
economically practicable or environmentally feasible. Therefore, we raise no objection to the 
proposed development. 

 
3.8 Warnham Parish Council: No Objection  

[Summary]: Whilst the Parish Council have no objections, they would like to raise strong 
concerns over the increase of traffic and further highways issues that the development will 
place on Warnham and the surrounding areas. The Parish Council requests that provisions 
for monitoring the traffic and highways issues are put in place at regular intervals and reports 
circulated with Council. 
 

3.9 Slinfold Parish Council: Objection  
[Summary]: Slinfold Parish Council strongly objects to this application on the basis that it 
represents a significant change to the previously approved application (DC/17/2131). That 
change being the suggested 24/7 hours of operation and the extended duration (5 years) of 
planning consent. 
• The proposal for B1/B2/B8 uses is too wide. B8 usage will create a significant amount of 

new traffic onto the A281; 
• Given the close proximity to residential properties, a school, nursing home and its rural 

location, the site is unsuitable for a 24 hour industrial operation; 
• The Noise Report shows a significant increase in night noise, and some of the data on 

the report is incomplete. Reversing beepers are particularly intrusive as are loading and 
unloading operations and the operation of machinery;  

• The 24hr operation will lead to an unacceptable increase in light pollution; 
• The Parish would like to see an assessment of demand before any reapproval of 

permission is granted, and would seek to avoid a site filled with multinational companies; 
• The preferred use would be for smaller businesses and offices, where individuals can 

rent small offices/workshops. This would provide a facility for small businesses currently 
located in less suitable premises in the rural area to grow; 

• The Parish Council fully supports the views of the local residents, notes the number of 
objections and the points raised in their letter of representation. Given the strength of 
opposition and number of representations from neighbours the application should be 
decided at Committee; 

• Should approval be granted we would like to see more screening around zone 3 and the 
eastern section of zone 2. 

 
  

Page 21



3.10 WSCC Flood Risk Management: No Objection  
[Summary]: The FRA proposes that attenuation tanks with restricted discharge to the main 
river would be used to control the surface water. In the spirit of SuDS, betterment for surface 
water systems should be sought. Discharge to the main river would require consent from the 
EA. 
 

3.11 WSCC Fire and Rescue: No Objection (condition suggested) 
[Summary]: Conditions recommended for details to be submitted for required fire hydrant(s) 
within the development site.  
 

3.12 WSCC Rights of Way: No Objection  
[Summary]: It is understood that the application does not impact upon, or propose any 
alteration to any PROW routes, therefore no objection is raised. In accordance with HDPF 
Policy 40 a contribution should be sought to provide improved non-motorised access to the 
development site (specifically to Bridleway 1443 and 1434_1). A contribution of £75k is 
sought in respect of approximately 1.5 km of surface / structural improvements to the 
BW1443 & BW1434_1 routes. Section 4.11 of the DAS refers to a secondary access point 
to the development from Nowhurst Lane. It should be noted that in the absence of this access 
point all non-motorised user (NMU) access would be from the A281 Guildford Road, which 
has no facilities for pedestrians or cyclists. It is therefore recommended that the provision of 
a suitable access from Nowhurst Lane for NMUs should be a requirement of any planning 
consent.  
 

3.13 Surrey County Council Minerals and Waste: No Objection 
 

3.14 Environment Agency: No Objection (conditions suggested) 
[Summary]: No objection raised, subject to the following conditions: (1) Remediation strategy 
for any unidentified contamination to be submitted and approved; (2) No piling using 
penetrative methods to be used, unless with written consent.  
Advice notes to the applicant include: (1) assessment of the sewerage treatment plant; (2) 
all roof water run-off to drain to rainwater soakaways: (3) any imported soils to be 
accompanied by an environmental permit; (4) treatment of on-site waste; (5) proper disposal 
of hazardous waste to be taken off-site; (6) groundwater protection advice; (7) advice 
regarding pollution prevention.  
 

3.15 Ecology Consultant: No Objection (conditions suggested)  
[Summary]: We have reviewed the Briefing Note: Updated Ecological Assessment (Ecology 
Solutions, September 2021) and the Ecological Assessment (Ecology Solutions, September 
2017). The mitigation measures identified should be secured and implemented in full. This is 
necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species particularly bats, Great 
Crested Newt and other amphibians, reptiles and birds. We also support the proposed 
reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have been recommended to secure 
measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 174d of the NPPF. The 
reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be outlined within a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Strategy and should be secured by condition. Suggested conditions include: 
(1) Action in accordance with Ecological Assessment, (2) Submission of a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Strategy, (3) Submission of a Wildlife Sensitive Lighting Design Scheme.  
 
[Summary of Comments on 24hr Lighting]: We recommend that 24 hour lighting should be 
avoided in the immediate vicinity of the landscape buffer to the north and west of Zone 1. In 
the rest of the site, 24-hour lighting needs to take into account where the bat boxes are being 
erected, ensure that the appropriate hoods and cowls are used, low level lighting is used 
when possible and that the lighting is directed away from sensitive areas for bats. 

 
3.16 Natural England: No Objection (subject to securing appropriate mitigation) 

[Summary]: The Appropriate Assessment concludes that the proposal will not result in 
adverse effects on the integrity of the sites in question. The submitted Water Neutrality 

Page 22



Statement (Rev-09) details the proposal to achieve neutrality by implementing water efficient 
fixtures and fittings, including low-flow taps and waterless urinals, as well as a rainwater 
harvesting system which will supply the entirety of the developments water requirements with 
a sufficient buffer. Natural England concurs with the assessment conclusions, providing that 
all mitigation measures are appropriately secured in any planning permission given as above. 
The competent authority should ensure conditions are sufficiently robust to ensure that the 
mitigation measures can be fully implemented and are enforceable in perpetuity and 
therefore provide a sufficient degree of certainty to pass the Habitats Regulations.  
 

3.17 Southern Water: No Objection  
 
 
 PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS 
 
3.18 23 letters of representation have been received (from 20 different households), all objecting 

to the proposed development. A summary of the reasons for objection is as follows: 
 

• Noise and light disturbance from 24-hour operation in Zone 1 
• Additional traffic 
• Rise in C02 emissions 
• Noise / light pollution  
• Impact on countryside character 
• Noise levels would lead to sleep disturbance 
• Disturbances caused by HGV movements every 2 mins 
• Lighting impact on wildlife 
• Impact on heritage assets (Grade 2 listed houses) 
• No public transport to the site 
• No control over 24-hour operation in Zones 2 and 3 
• Rat running through Wickhurst Green 
• Employment space is not needed 
• No justification for extending hours of operation 
• No water neutrality proposal 
• Impact on dark skies 
• Thin end of wedge 

 
 
4. HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
4.1 Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council has a legal duty to pay 'due regard' to the need to 

eliminate discrimination and promote equality, fostering good relations in respect of Race, 
Disability, Gender including gender reassignment, Age, Sexual Orientation, Pregnancy and 
maternity, Religion or belief. The Equality Act 2010 will form part of the planning assessment 
below.  

 
4.2 Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol 

(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application.  
 
4.3 Consideration of Human Rights and Equalities forms part of the planning assessment below. 
 
5. HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER 
 
5.1 It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on 

crime and disorder. 
 

 
  

Page 23



6. PLANNING ASSESSMENTS  
 
 Background 
 
6.1 In February 2019 (under application reference DC/17/2131), Outline planning permission 

was granted for the same type and quantum of commercial development on this site as is 
proposed under the current application. Owing to unforeseen delays with the submission of 
a Reserved Matters application (which was required within 3 years of the original permission), 
the 2019 Outline permission expired in February 2022.  As such, the current application is 
effectively a re-submission of the previously consented scheme. The type of quantum of 
development proposed under the current application is the same as before, however, three 
changes to the previous scheme are proposed, as follows: 

 
1. That any permission has a duration of 5 years (instead of 3) to allow for sufficient time to 

secure development of the site in its entirety; and 
 

2. Amendment to the night-time operating restrictions for Zone 1 only, to allow for activity 
on the external areas within this zone over the night-time period. 
 

3. The previous proposal for Class B1c (light industrial) units has now been replaced with a 
proposal for Class E (g. iii) units in line with the national changes to the Use Class Order 
which was updated in September 2020.   

 
Principle of Development:  
 

6.2 As with the previous application for commercial development on this site (which was 
approved under DC/17/2131), it remains the case that the application site is located outside 
any defined settlement boundary and is not allocated in the adopted local plan (the HDPF) 
or within the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan (owing to its status as a strategic employment site). 
Strictly speaking therefore, the proposed development falls contrary to the key spatial 
policies of the HDPF (Policies 1, 2, 4 and 26), and accordingly, the grant of planning 
permission for development on this site would represent a departure from the development 
plan.  

 
6.3 Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that: ‘Local planning authorities may take decisions that 

depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular 
case indicate that the plan should not be followed’. This follows section 70(2) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act and the provisions of Paragraphs 2 and 47 of the NPPF which 
require that ‘….applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise’. In determining 
whether the principle of the proposed development is acceptable, it must therefore be judged 
that there are material considerations of sufficient weight to warrant such a departure. 

 
6.4 In this case, the 3-year timeframe for submitting Reserved Matters applications for the 

development of the previous approval (DC/17/2131) expired in February 2022. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that the original Outline permission granted has now expired, the previous 
approval by the Council of a proposal comprising the same type and quantum of development 
on the same site; is considered to carry significant weight in favour of justifying a departure 
from policy. In addition, as per the previous approval, it remains that case that the site is 
located close to (and accessed directly from) a main ‘A’ road, and therefore benefits from 
good road connections. This coupled with the sites historic lawful industrial use; leads to the 
view that the principle of commercial development here continues to be acceptable. Whilst 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been updated since the last approval 
was granted, the updates have no direct relevance to the matters in this case. As such, given 
the physical site circumstances remain the same, and there have been no relevant updates 
or changes to national or local planning policy, it is considered that the principle of 
commercial development on this site remains acceptable.   

Page 24



 
6.5 The commercial development that was most recently approved on this site (comprising 

26,942m2 of B1b/c, B2 and B8 employment space) is included in the Council’s list of 
‘committed’ employment sites which have been approved since the adoption of the HDPF in 
2015 to address an identified quantitative and qualitative shortfall in the current plan period. 
These sites are listed in the most recent update to the Economic Growth Assessment (EGA, 
Nov 2020) and in Table 3 of the Regulation-19 Draft Local Plan, July 2021. Whilst other 
employment sites have been permitted in the District since the previous approval on the 
Nowhurst site, as the site forms an existing commitment, the need for the commercial 
floorspace proposed still remains, and this application simply seeks to renew the permission 
the Council previously granted in 2019. It is intended that the committed sites listed in the 
EGA (including Nowhurst) will contribute to meeting the current identified shortfall, as well as 
anticipated employment floorspace needs required over the next plan period. Given the 
application site forms an existing and important commercial commitment which the Council 
relies upon to help to meet current shortfalls and anticipated need going forward, this is 
another important material consideration which weighs in favour of justifying a departure from 
policy. 

 
6.6 In summary, whilst it is acknowledged that the application site is located outside a defined 

built-up area boundary and is not allocated for development in the adopted local plan; there 
are no significant changes to the site circumstances or planning policy framework that would 
warrant withholding a renewal of planning permission. As per the previous approval, it is 
considered that the material planning considerations relevant to this case are sufficiently 
compelling to justify a departure from the HDPF development strategy, and this establishes 
the principle of development on the site as being acceptable.  

 
Landscape Effects: 
 

6.7 The Council’s Landscape Architect was heavily involved in the deliberations of the previous 
approval (DC/17/2131) and was influential on matters relating to the parameters plan and 
discussions on buffer planting and maximum building heights, particularly within the more 
sensitive southern section of the site fronting Nowhurst Lane. The Landscape Architect has 
reviewed the current proposal and has advised the many of the previous comments from 
DC/17/2131 remain relevant to this application. 

 
6.8 As per the previous approval, the submitted parameters plan shows areas of existing 

landscaping, new landscape buffers, new enhanced wildlife areas, an ‘Early Planting Zone’ 
and a ‘Reduced Eaves Height Zone’. Under DC/17/2131, Condition 24 restricted the eaves 
heights in the ‘Reduced Eaves Height Zone’ to a maximum of 6m with an overall building 
height of 10m. It is proposed that the same condition is re-imposed pursuant to the current 
application. As before, ‘Additional Proposed Landscaped Zones’ are proposed along the 
western boundaries of the site. The Landscape Architect has requested that planting in both 
the ‘Additional Proposed Landscaped Zones’ and in the ‘Early Planting Zones’ are 
conditioned to come forward early. This is considered to be reasonable, and such a condition 
has been drafted (see Condition 11).  

 
6.9 It has been demonstrated that the outline landscape proposals do not differ from the scheme 

that was deemed acceptable under DC/17/2131. As such, subject to the imposition of the 
same conditions to mitigate any significant harm (including early planting in key areas of the 
site and control over maximum building heights); it is considered that the development would 
not have an adverse impact on the wider landscape character of the site, in accordance with 
Policies 25, 32 & 33 of the HDPF.        

 
  

Page 25



Heritage Impact: 
 
6.10 There are three listed buildings in the vicinity of the site, Smithawe Farm and Old Strood to 

the south of the site fronting Nowhurst Lane, and Farlington School to the east on the 
opposite side of the A281.  All three are Grade II listed.   

 
6.11 The Council’s Heritage Officer raised an objection to the proposal under the previous 

application (DC/17/2131), citing concerns that the proposed commercial development would 
erode the existing tranquil character of the wider area and result in permanent and 
irreversible impact on the rural setting of the listed buildings along Nowhurst Lane. Under 
DC/17/2131, the Heritage Officer judged that the scheme would result in ‘less than 
substantial harm’ to the setting of the nearby listed buildings and advised that this harm must 
be weighed against the identified public benefit of the proposal as required by para 134 (now 
para 202) of the NPPF.   

 
6.12 Despite negotiations between the Council and the applicant to lower the overall building 

heights (to 10m to ridge, and 8m to eaves) and to improve the landscape buffering along the 
southern boundary; owing to the proposed location and scale of the buildings nearest to 
Nowhurst Lane, it was judged by Officers (under DC/17/2131) that the scale of the proposed 
commercial buildings in this location would be appreciable and would intrude into the setting 
of Grade 2 listed Smithawe Farm in particular. As such, under DC/17/2131 Officers agreed 
with the Heritage Officer that the proposal represented ‘less than substantial harm’. Overall 
however, when applying the provisions of NPPF para 134 (now para 202), it was judged that 
the proposed commercial development of 26,942m2 would result in significant and tangible 
public benefits (as derived from the employment provision) which was considered to 
outweigh the identified heritage harm.  

 
6.13 The conclusion above was reached applying great weight to the statutory provision within 

s66 of the Town and Country (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting in decision 
making. In assessing the current proposal, the same level of regard has been paid the 
provisions within s66 of the 1990 act above. Given the quantum and type of development 
proposed under the current application remains the same as that considered under 
DC/17/2131, it is judged that the same level of harm to the nearby heritage assets (i.e. ‘less 
than substantial harm’) would still apply. As such, subject to the inclusion of the same 
conditions imposed under DC/17/2131 to mitigate the harm identified to the nearby listed 
buildings along Nowhurst Lane (including conditions for maximum building heights, and 
improved buffer landscaping); it is considered that the public benefit that would result from 
the employment opportunities created from nearly 27,00m2 industrial floorspace would 
outweigh the heritage harm identified, in accordance with para 202 of the NPPF.   

 
Highways / Access / Parking:  
 

6.14 An updated Transport Assessment has been submitted in support of the current application. 
This has been assessed by WSCC as the Local Highways Authority and as per the previous 
2019 scheme, no highways objection to the proposal has been raised. The LHA note that the 
access strategy (i.e. a roundabout onto the A281 with footway provision providing 
connections to the external network) remains comparable to the 2019 scheme, and the site 
layout allows for appropriate movement and turning for HGVs. Highways improvements to 
the A281 that were required under the 2019 scheme (including widening of the northern arm 
of the roundabout, and the installation of new bus stop infrastructure) have now been 
implemented. Junction modelling and an analysis of highways capacity has been updated, 
and even under a ‘worse-case scenario’ of 227 (am) and 236 (pm) two-way vehicle 
movements, additional traffic on the local road networks and junctions is judged by the LHA 
to be acceptable.  

 

Page 26



6.15 Parking onsite is predicted to consist of around 290 spaces for layout option 1, and 336 
spaces for layout option 2. Whilst the proposal is in Outline (so the precise number of parking 
spaces is not known) the LHA is of the view that the indicative layouts show that a sufficient 
number of spaces can be accommodated on site, with room for more if required. The 2020 
WSCC standards for EV provision have been followed (20% of spaces would have ‘active’ 
EVC points, with the remaining 80% fitted with ‘passive’ infrastructure), and the LHA has 
confirmed they are satisfied with this approach. Cycle parking would be provided in 
accordance with the WSCC standards, and this provision would be secured at detailed 
design (Reserved Matters) stage, or by condition.  

 
6.16 As acknowledged under the 2019 application, owing to its rural location, the site is not greatly 

serviced by sustainable transport modes. Whilst new bus stops are now located on the A281 
close to the site entrance, only a limited service between Horsham and Guildford is available. 
As such, journeys to the site by sustainable modes of transport are therefore likely to be 
limited, with the development likely to be heavily reliant on car travel as a result. As secured 
by s106 agreement as part of the previous approval, the provision of a bespoke shuttle bus 
service to transport employees between the site and key transport hubs (including Horsham 
Railway Station and residential areas) is proposed to be secured as before.  

 
6.17 The previously approved Travel Plan has been updated to reflect the current application 

which now includes additional sustainable elements such as EVC charging. The main 
objective of the Travel Plan is to provide a long-term strategy for encouraging employees 
and visitors to reduce their dependency on car travel in favour of more sustainable modes of 
travel such as public / active transport and car sharing. The Travel Plan now also promotes 
a shift to low emission vehicles. A Travel Plan Coordinator will be appointed and will be 
responsible for implementing and monitoring the proposed measures. The LHA are satisfied 
with this approach to seek to encourage employees to use more sustainable modes of travel.  

 
6.18 In summary, given the similarities between the current proposal and the previously approved 

scheme, it is not considered that there are any highways grounds to refuse permission. As 
before, conditions are required to be imposed (including conditions to secure cycle parking, 
a construction management plan, and the approval of the Travel Plan), and a s106 
agreement is required to secure the provision of the shuttle bus service.  
 
Impact on Amenity of Neighbouring Occupants  

 
6.19 The site is adjacent to residential properties fronting Nowhurst Lane, the nearest being 

‘Quarries’ set adjacent to the southwest boundary, and ‘Smithawe Farm’ and ‘The Cowshed’ 
adjacent to the southeast boundary. Further properties sit in relatively close proximity to the 
east along Nowhurst Lane, including ‘Old Strood’, ‘Old Strood Farmhouse’ and ‘Warrens 
View’. ‘Brackensfield Farm’ and ‘Brookhurst Farm’ sit to the south and north of the site 
entrance respectively, with ‘Farlington Lodge’ opposite the A281 to the east. The nearest 
properties to the northwest are some 400m distant, and to the southwest some 200m distant. 
A campsite is located south of Nowhurst Lane operated by the Guide Association. 

 
6.20 In support of the previous (2019) application, an Environmental Noise Assessment (by 

Sharps Redmore) was submitted. Owing to a previous refusal for development on this site 
on noise grounds prior to the 2019 application, the Noise Assessment was carefully 
considered by Officers in consultation with the Council’s Environmental Health Team to 
assess whether noise mitigation could overcome the previous reason for refusal. The 
Assessment identified low background noise levels and noise sensitivities associated with 
this site, therefore it was considered appropriate for conditions to be imposed which restricted 
the hours of internal and external activity within each of the three zones.  

 
6.21 Zone 1 (the area to the northern end of the site) is furthest away from noise sensitive 

receptors (namely residential dwellings along Nowhurst Lane), and as such, 24hr internal 
operations were allowed, but Condition 22 prohibited any overnight external operations within 

Page 27



this zone (between the hours of 11pm and 7am). The reason for this condition was to 
safeguard the tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of neighbouring properties. 
Restrictions for activities within Zones 2 and 3 (the areas of the site closest to Nowhurst 
Lane) were more strictly controlled by Condition 23 due to the proximity to sensitive 
receptors. This condition prohibited any weekday activity (internal or external) after 8pm. The 
reason given for Condition 23 was the same as for Condition 22 (i.e., to safeguard 
tranquillity). The applicant was in agreement with these restrictions.   

 
6.22 In support of the current application, an updated Environmental Noise Assessment has been 

submitted (also by Sharps Redmore). The assessment notes that the noise environment is 
largely unchanged since the previous report was commissioned, and states in paragraph 1.4 
that ‘in terms of noise, the impacts will be similar to those assessed at the time of the extant 
planning permission was granted, and it is therefore considered that in noise terms, subject 
to similar conditions [as previously imposed], the proposed development would be 
acceptable’. Officers are in agreement with the conclusions reached by the applicant’s 
consultant (Sharps Redmore).  

 
6.23 As part of the current proposal, the applicant is now seeking approval for 24 hour internal 

and external operations within Zone 1 (which was previously restricted by Condition 22 under 
the 2019 permission). It is understood that this is because a prospective occupier within Zone 
1 (a white van distribution company) requires 24hr use to undertake their operations. The 
main focus of the updated Environmental Noise Assessment was therefore to consider the 
impact of noise from night time activity in Zone 1.  

 
6.24 Whilst the site is understood to be currently vacant, it is acknowledged by Officers that 

previous historic lawful uses on the site allowed for operations to occur on site between the 
hours of 0700-1900 Mondays-Fridays, and 0800-1700 Saturdays (with no operations allowed 
on a Sundays or public holidays). It was acknowledged in para 6.39 of the previous Officer’s 
Report (DC/17/2131) that under the current lawful use of the site there is the potential for the 
site to operate with a significantly greater intensity during the daytime, such that identifying 
harm from daytime operations associated with the proposed development would be difficult. 
This does not however extend to night time operation, where the site is effectively silent.  

 
6.25 As detailed in section 3 of the most recent Environmental Noise Assessment, updated noise 

surveys were conducted in October 2021 using a monitoring location close to the nearest 
residential receptor to Zone 1 (Brackensfield Farm). The night time background noise levels 
were consistent with previous surveys undertaken in September 2016, and shows average 
night time (maximum) background noise levels in this monitoring location of around 32dB. 
Section 5.3 of the Environmental Noise Assessment shows that at Receptor 2 (Brackensfield 
Farm), the predicted night time (maximum) noise levels once the development is in operation 
will be around 49dB. The noise assessment notes in paragraph 5.4 that the predicted noise 
level of 49dB in this location will be below the World Health Organisation’s (WHO) night time 
noise criteria for the onset of sleep disturbance of 60dB, therefore the assessment concludes 
that ‘noise levels from external activity would not cause adverse impact in line with the policy 
aims of the NPPF, and that there is no technical reason to restrict operating hours of units in 
Zone 1’. Notwithstanding this, the noise assessment acknowledges that the background 
noise levels in this location are low, and as such, recommends that a noise management 
plan is secured by condition to further control night time activity in this location.  

 
6.26 The findings of the updated Environmental Noise Assessment have been shared with the 

Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO). As per the previously approved (2019) 
application, the EHO agrees that given the historic use of this site for commercial operations, 
no objection is raised against the principle of commercial development in this location. 
Similarly, as before, the EHO acknowledges that residents are not located immediately on 
the boundary of Zone 1 and does not therefore object to 24-hour internal activity in this zone. 
Consistent with the previous position, the EHO is of the view that permitting 24-hour external 
activity is likely to significantly alter the character of the rural area which is otherwise very 

Page 28



quiet and dark at night. As such, it remains the view of the Council’s Environmental Health 
Department that the conditions attached to the previously consented development (the 2019 
scheme) represent the right balance between the desire to market the development as widely 
as possible, and the protection of the amenity and character of the area. 

 
6.27  The applicant has sought to demonstrate that the predicted night-time noise levels that would 

result from 24-hour operations within Zone 1 (49dB) would be less than the WHO maximum 
night time criteria (60dB). The EHO does not dispute this but highlights that these limits are 
based on health criteria only, and do not consider associated impact on local amenity and 
character which is particularly relevant in a location such as this where background noise 
levels are so low, and where night-time activity has never historically occurred. The EHO 
concludes that the best way to safeguard the amenity of residents and the character of the 
locality is to ensure there is no external activity at night. As such, Officers are of the view that 
the applicant’s request for 24-hour internal and external activity in Zone1 is not acceptable, 
and recommend that the conditions imposed under the previous approval (DC/17/2131) 
which restricted hours of operation should be re-imposed in order to safeguard neighbouring 
amenity. These conditions (Condition 26 and Condition 27) are consistent with those 
previously included under DC/17/2131 and have been drafted at the end of this report.  

 
6.28 The current proposal has been supported by a revised Lighting Strategy Report which shows 

the same level and type of lighting is proposed across the site as was accepted under the 
previous approval. As per the conclusions above regarding the effect of noise from the site 
on local residential amenity, it is considered that the requirement for overnight lighting within 
the site (including the access road where 6m columns are proposed) would cause 
undesirable sky glow, and would not be acceptable in this rural location. It is accepted that a 
combination of column and bollard lighting would be needed across the site to enable 
operations during permitted hours, but it is the view of Officers that the lighting conditions 
imposed under the 2019 permission remain relevant and should also be re-imposed with the 
current scheme. This will ensure all external lighting is switched off outside of the consented 
operating hours (save for low level emergency lighting to exits). Conditions 28 and 29 have 
been drafted to that effect.  A requirement has also been included in the hard and soft 
landscape condition (Condition 12) for the submission of a detailed lighting scheme for all 
external areas to accord with ecology safeguarding recommendations.  

 
6.29 The indicative layout of the site (taking into account both layout options 1 and 2), is similar 

to the indicative layout that was previously approved under DC/17/2131. Whilst there are 
some layout differences shown in Zones 1 and 2, the proposed layout in Zone 3 (the zone 
closest to adjoining neighbours) is almost identical to the previously approved scheme.   
As before, the indicative layout shows a suitable separation of around 30m from ‘Quarries’ 
to the nearest Zone 3 buildings. This coupled with the existing acoustic fence, mature 
evergreen trees and proposed planting buffer, is considered to provide sufficient screening 
to avoid adverse harm to residential amenity.  

 
6.30 As per the previous approval, the commercial buildings in Zone 3 that are located nearest to 

neighbouring properties on Nowhurst Lane are shown to be within a ‘Reduced Eaves Height 
Zone’ and would be subject to a condition that restricts the eaves height to 6m, and the 
overall height to 10m. Condition 30 has been drafted to this effect.  
 

6.31 As before, a suitable separation of around 50m continues to be retained across the existing 
landscaped bund to ‘Smithawe Farm’ and ‘The Cowshed’ to the east to ensure that the 
overall scale of any building would not be unduly imposing on light or outlook. In respect of 
the other properties to the east and north, as before, no significant impact on light or outlook 
is likely given the significant separations to the site and the presence of existing bunds and 
boundary landscaping. 

 
6.32 In summary, as per the Council’s assessment of the previous 2019 proposal and having 

regard to the lawful use of the site, it is judged that subject to conditions to restrict hours of 

Page 29



operation across the site to preclude 24-hr external operations (as well as other conditions 
to secure the submission of a Noise Management Plan and to control external lighting and 
building heights etc); the proposal demonstrates that a suitable development can come 
forward that is able to avoid adverse impact on neighbouring residential amenity, in 
accordance with HDPF Policy 33.    

 
Ecology and Biodiversity Enhancement  

 
6.33 Following the previously submitted Ecological Assessment and survey work (dated 

September 2017), and Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (EMMP, June 2019); 
the applicant has submitted an Updated Ecological Assessment which includes updated 
walkover habitat and species surveys. The results reveal that there have been no significant 
material changes to the site habitats since previously surveyed. As previously identified, 
there are no statutory or non-statutory designated sites located within or immediately 
adjacent to the application site. As such, it is considered that the proposed development is 
unlikely to have any significant impacts upon these sites.  

 
6.34 The updated assessment highlights that the most notable change at the application site since 

2017 is the clearance of the development footprint, which now comprises cleared bare 
ground. However, given that this area previously primarily comprised hardstanding and 
disturbed ground, it is judged that this is of negligible ecological significance. All other 
habitats outside of the development footprint have been fully retained. The updated 
assessment notes that all appropriate and proportionate mitigation as set out within the 
previously approved Ecological Assessment (2017) and EMMP (2019) has been undertaken. 
This includes the erection of a new bat barn on site, as well as a number of new bat boxes.  

 
6.35 The Council’s Ecology Consultant has reviewed the submitted Ecological Assessment 

Update Report as well as the previously submitted Ecological Assessment (Sept 2017) and 
Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (June 2019). The Ecologist has confirmed that 
no objection is raised to the proposal subject to the following conditions: (1) Action in 
accordance with Ecological Assessment and EMMP, (2) Submission of a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Strategy, (3) Submission of a Wildlife Sensitive Lighting Design Scheme. 
These conditions are considered to be reasonable and necessary, and their imposition 
alongside an approval is recommended by Officers to ensure the site is developed in 
accordance with biodiversity protection and enhancement provisions as set out in the NPPF 
(paragraphs 174 and 180), and Policy 31 of the HDPF. 

 
6.36 The Council has recently published a new Planning Advice Note on ‘Biodiversity and Green 

Infrastructure’ (Oct 2022). The PAN is interim guidance for applicants on how biodiversity 
matters should be taken into account following the enactment of the Environment Act 2021 
before all necessary secondary legislation is in place in respect of the emerging statutory 
requirement for 10% biodiversity net gain in all new developments. Given the advanced stage 
of this application and the recent publication of the PAN, it is not deemed reasonable to ask 
the applicants in this case to provide an upfront biodiversity gain calculation using the 
Biodiversity Metric as advised in the document. As described above, a condition to secure 
the submission of a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy has been drafted (see Condition 13), 
and it is more reasonable to expect the applicant to provide the necessary information at 
conditions discharge stage rather than prior to a decision being made. 

 
6.37 In summary, as per the previous approval, the proposal is able to offer significant ecological 

enhancement by way of the creation of three ponds within the Wildlife Enhancement Area, 
significant new woodland planting around the site boundaries, the provision of bird and bat 
boxes, and meadow grassland. It is considered that the proposal would suitably mitigate its 
impact on the ecology of the site whilst providing enhancements both within and immediately 
adjacent to the site. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the requirements of 
HDPF Policy 31, and paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF.  

 

Page 30



Water Neutrality  
 
6.38 The issue of water neutrality has become apparent since the previous application was 

approved in 2019. By way of background, in September 2021, Natural England released a 
Position Statement which advised all local authorities within the Sussex North Water Supply 
Zone that it cannot be concluded that existing water abstraction within the Sussex North 
Water Supply Zone is not having an adverse effect on the integrity of the Arun Valley 
SAC/SPA/Ramsar sites near Pulborough. The Position Statement advises the affected local 
authorities that developments within the Sussex North Supply Zone must not therefore add 
to this impact, and to achieve this, all proposals must demonstrate water neutrality.  The 
definition of water neutrality is the use of water in the supply area before the development is 
the same or lower after the development is in place. 

 
6.39 In assessing the impact of development on protected habitat sites such as those in the Arun 

Valley, decision makers must, as the competent authority for determining impact on such 
sites, ensure full compliance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (known as the Habitat Regulations). The Regulations require that a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) be carried out to determine if a plan or project may affect 
the protected features of a habitats site, before the grant of any planning permission. Section 
70(3) of the Regulations requires that planning permission must not be granted unless the 
competent authority (Horsham District Council) is satisfied that the proposed development 
will not adversely affect the integrity of the affected habits site. Section 63 of the Regulations 
sets out the process by which an HRA must take place.   

 
6.40 The requirements of Section 70(3) are reflected in paragraph 180 of the NPPF, which states 

that ‘if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 
(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, 
as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused’. 

 
6.41 The application site falls within the Sussex North Water Supply Zone which draws its water 

supply from groundwater abstraction at Hardham (near Pulborough), adjacent to the Arun 
Valley sites. The water abstraction issues raised by the Natural England Position Statement 
are therefore material planning considerations relevant to the proposal. Given the 
requirements of the Habitat Regulations and paragraph 180 of the NPPF, adverse impact on 
the integrity of the Arun Valley sites must be given great weight in decision making. 

 
6.42 In order to demonstrate that no adverse impact will occur at the Arun Valley sites, all new 

development within the supply zone that is likely to increase water consumption (such as 
new employment floorspace) must demonstrate water neutrality, i.e., that water consumption 
from the site when occupied will not increase water abstraction in the Arun Valley. Until a 
wider offsetting strategy is developed to address this issue (which is not expected to be in 
place until later this year and is initially only likely to apply to sites allocated in the Council’s 
next local plan), all new development must demonstrate that it can be water neutral in its 
own right. 

 
6.43 A Stage 1 HRA screening assessment was undertaken in order to assess whether (without 

mitigation) the proposed development would have a Likely Significant Effect on the Arun 
Valley sites, and whether the proposal needs to proceed to Stage 2 Appropriate Assessment. 
Given the proposed development will increase the demand for mains water usage, it is likely 
to result an identifiable impact on the Arun Valley SAC/SPA/Ramsar sites. As such, the HRA 
screening concluded that without mitigation, the proposed development will have a Likely 
Significant Effect on the designated features of the Arun Valley SAC/SPA/Ramsar, and as 
such, the assessment was required to proceed to HRA Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment to 
ascertain whether any mitigation proposed can enable the proposal to be authorised.  

 
6.44 In support of the Appropriate Assessment (AA), the applicant has submitted a Water 

Neutrality Statement (Revision 09, November 2022) which proposes to neutralise predicted 

Page 31



water consumption by installing water saving appliances (including low flow wash hand 
basins, low flow taps, waterless urinals and low flow shower heads), as well as the 
implementation of an on-site rainwater harvesting system to collect water from roofs to be 
recycled for use in the buildings.  

 
6.45 A full assessment of the applicant’s water neutrality proposal can be found in the Council’s 

HRA Appropriate Assessment, but a summary of the water neutrality calculations for this 
proposal is as follows:   
• Baseline water usage = 0  
• Proposed water consumption = 28,611 litres / day 
• Rainwater yield = 43,963 litres / day 
• Yield exceeds proposed consumption, demonstrating the site can be water neutral 

 
6.46 The applicant’s Water Neutrality Statement shows that through the implementation of a 

rainwater harvesting system on site, it is reasonable to assume that 43,963 litres of rainwater 
per day can be collected from proposed commercial buildings. Four below-ground storage 
tanks (with capacity for 35 days’ worth of rainwater) are shown to cover periods of drought, 
and a treatment regime has been proposed to enable the water to be suitable for potable 
consumption. Based on a worse-case scenario of predicted employee numbers (748), the 
predicted water usage for the proposal is 28,611 l/day.   

 
6.47 The exercise has shown that the surplus water that would result (around 24,500 l/day), 

coupled with the use of a worse-case scenario for predicted employee numbers, and a 
cautious approach in the calculation of rainwater yield (i.e. applying reductions for 
fluctuations and losses); gives further credibility to the proposed scheme, in the context of 
the precautionary principle. The proposal shows the site is able to store enough water to 
cover drought periods, and to treat water to drinking standard. A number of detailed planning 
conditions have been drafted to ensure the proposed water saving appliances are installed 
on site, and that the rainwater harvesting system is implemented and operational prior to first 
use of the buildings (see Conditions 14 and 15).  

 
6.48 An Appropriate Assessment (AA) has been completed by the Council on the basis of the 

applicant’s proposed mitigation measures. The AA concludes that subject to conditions, the 
project will not have an Adverse Effect on the Integrity of the Arun Valley SAC/ SPA /Ramsar 
site, either alone or in combination with other plan and projects. As per the requirements of 
s63 of the Habitat Regulations, the Council has consulted Natural England as the relevant 
statutory body. Having considered the Council’s Appropriate Assessment and the measures 
proposed by the applicant to mitigate for any adverse effects, Natural England has confirmed 
that subject to all mitigation measures being appropriately secured, the conclusions of the 
Council’s Appropriate Assessment are agreed with. 

 
6.49 In summary, the HRA exercise undertaken by the Council (as the competent authority) has 

demonstrated that the water saving mitigation proposed by the application (in the form of on-
site water saving appliances and rainwater harvesting), provides sufficient certainty that the 
water consumption associated with the proposed commercial development would not result 
in adverse impact on the integrity of the Arun Valley habitat sites (subject to conditions). On 
this basis, the development complies with s.70 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 as well as with Policy 31 of the HDPF and paragraph 180 of the NPPF, 
and the application can be determined positively.  

 
 Other Matters: 
 

Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
6.50 The site falls almost entirely within Flood Zone 1, with the river valley immediately adjacent 

to the west designated as Flood Zone 2 and 3 associated with the nearby River North. The 
application is accompanied by an updated Flood Risk Assessment which confirms that the 

Page 32



site is at low risk from all sources of flooding. The drainage proposal are the same as 
previously proposed and accepted by the Council under DC/17/2131. It is proposed that 
surface water run-off from the development will directed into the nearby River North and flows 
rates will be restricted to the calculated Greenfield Rate of 5.1 l/s. Attenuation will be provided 
by on site underground storage systems. 

 
6.51 The Council’s Drainage Engineer has reviewed the proposed FRA and Drainage Strategy 

and has confirmed that no objection is raised (subject to suitable drainage conditions). No 
objection has been received from WSCC Flood Team, nor from Southern Water. Similarly, 
the Environment Agency has raised no objection to the proposal for development of this 
previous landfill site. As such, in order to ensure the site can appropriately manage surface 
and foul water run-off without resulting in an increase in flood risk elsewhere, Officers are of 
the view that the same drainage conditions as imposed under DC/17/2131 should be re-
imposed again. Such conditions have been drafted at the end of this report (see Conditions 
7 and 19).  

 
Contaminated Land 

 
6.52 The application is supported by the same Geo Environmental Risk Assessment Report 

(Aviron Associates Ltd, dated May 2016) as submitted in support of the previously approved 
application. In addition, the applicant has also submitted a ‘Discovery Method Statement and 
Verification Plan’ (Rev A, Ref 16-202.04), and a ‘Soil Verification Report’ (Rev C, 16-202.05).  

 
6.52 In September 2020 (under DISC/20/0152), approval of details required by land-

contamination Condition 10 (parts a, b and c) was granted pursuant to the previous approval 
(DC/17/2131). In support of the approval of these details, a Phase II Geo-Environmental Risk 
Assessment Report was submitted. This Phase II Report has not been submitted with the 
current application. As such, it is considered necessary to re-impose the land contamination 
condition to ensure the any previously unidentified contamination can be properly identified 
and remediated. With regard to the site being on the grounds of a former landfill, as before, 
the Council’s Environmental Health Team raise no in principle objection to the development, 
subject to a standard condition seeking further investigations and remediation works where 
necessary. As such, the re-imposition of the previous land contamination condition is 
considered to be reasonable and necessary and has been drafted at the end of this report 
(see Condition 10).  

 
Minerals Safeguarding  

 
6.53 The submitted Minerals Assessment concludes that owing to the previous excavations for 

Horsham Stone at the site and its subsequent use as landfill, the site area appears to be 
devoid of any significant mineral resources of Horsham Stone. The testing did not explore a 
depth would reveal any meaningful deposits of Weald Clay. WSCC Minerals Resource Team 
has reviewed the assessment and conclude that whilst the development would sterilise any 
mineral resource remaining on the site, the lack of Horsham Stone and relative abundance 
of Weald Clay within the County, leads to the conclusion that no objection is raised to the 
proposed development.    

 
Air Quality  

 
6.54 An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted in support of the proposed development. The 

site is not located within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), but given the commercial 
nature of the development, and its scale, the Air Quality Management Plan has been 
undertaken to understand the extent of mitigation required. The assessment concludes that 
dust emissions during the construction phase would be one of the main impacts arising from 
the development. Mitigation (including dust suppression methods) is proposed to be included 
in the submission of a construction management plan, to be secured by condition.  

 

Page 33



6.55 The quantum of traffic that would serve the site is likely to be the main cause of air quality 
impact during the operational phase. Whilst data has shown that the predicted traffic 
movements associated with the development would have a negligible impact on the air 
quality of nearby roads, a damage cost calculation of £157,499 has been calculated which 
represents the total amount that should be spent on offsetting emissions from the site. The 
damage cost calculation of £157,499 is not proposed to be secured as a monetary 
contribution in the s106 legal agreement, but rather, mitigation is proposed to be secured 
through the submission of an Air Quality Mitigation Plan which would be required to set out 
emissions reduction proposals for each phase. It is proposed that EV charging points (20% 
upfront provision of fast chargers, with ducting for the remaining spaces) will be provided 
across the site to enable and encourage staff to choose to use lower-emission vehicles. In 
addition, a Framework Travel Plan has been prepared which seeks to encourage the use of 
more sustainable modes of transport, including using the proposed shuttle bus service (to be 
secured in a s106 agreement), discounted bus fares for the first 5 years, and promotion of 
car sharing. Notwithstanding these measures, it would be expected that the Air Quality 
Mitigation Plan will propose additional emissions reducing measures which will help to 
reduce the impact the development will have on local air quality. Additional measures will be 
proposed by the applicant for approval by the Council; and could include such measures as 
upgrades to the EV charging points form fast chargers to rapid chargers, installation of low-
emission boilers and/or air-source heat pumps, additional landscaping, and upgrades to the 
proposed staff shuttle bus service to enable links from more pick-up and drop-off points (such 
as Billingshurst Railway Station).   

 
6.56 Subject to a condition to secure a detailed Air Quality Mitigation Plan which proposes 

effective and costed mitigation measures (equivalent to the total damage cost calculation of 
£157,499) to reduce the impact of emissions from traffic (see Condition 16), the proposal is 
considered to accord with the requirements of HDPF Policy 24.  

 
Climate Change, Energy, Sustainability  

 
6.57 Policies 35, 36 and 37 of the HDPF require that development mitigates to the impacts of 

climate change through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, 
reducing water consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport 
modes. These policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans 
and decisions seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change. The applicant 
has submitted an Energy Statement which details several measures which seek to build 
resilience to climate change and reduce carbon emissions, including: 
• Use of energy efficient fittings  
• Constructed with an efficient building envelope to reduce energy demand 
• Potential use of rooflights to increase natural light  
• Potential use of low carbon technology (i.e. heat pumps) 
• Measures to reduce flood risk 
• Measures to increase sustainable transport options 
• Enhanced plating areas to encourage biodiversity  
• Integration of SUDS and green infrastructure to manage flood risk 
• Use of low-flow taps and fittings to reduce water use to around 28 litres person/day  
• Installation of a rainwater harvesting system to ensure water neutrality 
• Provision of EV charging points (and ducting for future connection) 
• Provision of dedicated cycle parking facilities 
• Improved pedestrian links to existing networks 
• Use of locally sourced materials and suppliers 

 
Subject to the implementation of these measures (either within the design of the site at 
Reserved Matters stage, or secured by condition); the application will suitably reduce the 
impact of the development on climate change in accordance with local and national policy. 

 

Page 34



PROW Improvements: 
 
6.58 As per the previous application (DC/17/2131), the WSCC Public Rights of Way officer has 

raised no objection to the proposed development, but has requested a contribution of £75k 
to be secured in order to undertake improvement works to improve non-motorised access to 
the site. The contribution of £75k is sought in respect of approximately 1.5 km of surface / 
structural improvements to BW1443 and BW1434/1. As before, Officers are of the view that 
given the location of the development it is not considered that improvements to these 
footpaths would achievably promote commuters walking or cycling to the site, with any 
upgrade being of little/no benefit to the sustainability of this employment land proposal. 
Consequently, it remains the view that the request from WSCC for contributions fails to meet 
the NPPF tests of an obligation, namely to be necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development.   

 
5-Year Timeframe 

 
6.59 The applicant has requested that permission be granted with a five-year timeframe for 

commencement rather than the standard three years. This request was also made for the 
previous application (DC/17/2131) and continues to be sought by the applicant to enable 
greater flexibility in preparing the Reserved Matters applications based on (as yet unknown) 
occupier requirements. Under DC/172131, this request was denied, because at the time, the 
proposal was a departure from policy and it was considered that part of the justification for 
its approval was to enable the short-term delivery of commercial floorspace to help to meet 
the District’s identified shortfall. Since the previous approval in 2019, commercial 
development on this site has been included in the Council’s list of commercial ‘commitments’ 
to meet needs to 2038. As such, whilst the Council would like to see development come 
forward on this site as soon as possible, it is acknowledged that the commercial climate has 
become more volatile in recent years, and this coupled with the expectation that this site will 
contribute to meeting identified needs in the short to medium terms (i.e. up to 2038); leads 
to the view that it is reasonable to allow a slightly longer timeframe for the applicant to submit 
all Reserved Matters applications (and therefore, to commence on site).  

 
6.60 It is proposed therefore, that conditions will require the applicant to submit the first Reserved 

Matter application (for a commercial unit) within the usual 3-year timeframe, and all remaining 
Reserved Matters to be submitted within an extended 5-year timeframe. This condition will 
follow with a requirement for development to commence on site within 2-years of the approval 
of the last Reserved Matters. This would effectively give the applicant a maximum of 7 years 
before any development must commence on site. This is considered to be sufficient time for 
the applicant to secure occupiers, and to design the site layout to suit their requirements. 
The timeframe also ensures that the full extent of commercial floorspace will be delivered 
within the Council’s short to medium term expectations.  

 
Legal Agreement 

 
6.61 In the event permission is granted, and as outlined above, a s106 Legal Agreement would 

be required to secure the following Heads of Terms: 
• The delivery of a shuttle bus service in accordance with the pricing mechanisms, service 

management and time scales set out in the Transport Assessment. 
• A 25-year landscape management and maintenance plan. 

 
Parish Council Objection 

 
6.62 It is acknowledged that Slinfold Parish Council has raised a strong objection to the proposal 

on the basis that the applicant is seeking 24hr operation. As described in this Report, Officers 
share the Parish Council’s concerns about the impact 24hr external activity on this site would 
cause. As described in the ‘Neighbouring Amenity’ section of this Report, given the existing 

Page 35



tranquil noise environment and dark rural character; it is agreed that 24hr external activity 
and lighting on the site is not appropriate, and conditions have been drafted to prevent 
external activity on site after 11pm (in Zone 1) and after 8pm (in Zones 2 and 3). Internal 
overnight activity in Zone 1 with doors and windows closed would still be allowed, as per the 
previously approved scheme. By imposing these conditions (which are the same conditions 
imposed on the previously approved application), Officers are of the view that the Parish 
Council’s concerns in this regard have been suitably addressed.  

 
Permitted Development Rights  

 
6.63 In order to maintain suitable control over the extent of development on this site, it is the view 

of Officers that permitted development rights (as outline in the General Permitted 
Development Order) should be removed where they allow for extensions to industrial or 
warehouse buildings, or where they allow for the laying of hardstanding to these types of 
buildings.  As such, conditions have been drafted to remove Permitted Development Rights 
as outlined in Class H and J of Part 7 of the General Permitted Development Order. In 
addition, it is deemed appropriate for a condition to be included to prevent any change of use 
of the units, as ordinarily allowed under Permitted Development Rights. These conditions 
have been drafted at the end of this report.  

 
Planning Balance and Conclusion  

 
6.64 The application site is located outside any defined settlement boundary and is not allocated 

in the adopted local plan (the HDPF) or within the Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan. As such, it 
is acknowledged that the proposed development is contrary to HDPF Policies 1, 2, 4 and 26, 
and the grant of planning permission would therefore represent a departure from the 
development plan. The 3-year timeframe on the original Outline permission granted in 
February 2019 (DC/17/2131) has now expired. However, this previous approval which 
comprised the same type and quantum of development as that current proposed, is 
considered to carry significant weight in favour of justifying a departure from policy. 

 
6.65 The previously approved Nowhurst site is included in the Council’s list of ‘committed’ 

employment sites which are relied upon to address an identified shortfall in employment floor 
space across the district. This is another important material consideration which weighs in 
favour of justifying a departure from policy. As a whole, it is considered that there are material 
planning considerations that are sufficiently compelling to justify a departure from the HDPF 
development strategy, and this establishes the principle of development on the site as being 
acceptable.  

 
6.66 A per the previously approved scheme (DC/17/2131), this report has established that 

(subject to conditions and a legal agreement) key matters including impact on highways, 
landscape, ecology, heritage, drainage, air quality, land contamination and 
sustainably/climate change are judged to be acceptable. The proposal does not differ 
significantly from the scheme approved by the Council in 2019, and includes the same extent 
of mitigation (including landscape buffering, and building height limitations) as agreed before. 
The scheme has is also shown to be water neutral, as agreed by Natural England.  

 
6.67 A key difference between this scheme and the previously approved scheme is the applicant’s 

proposal to allow 24 hour internal and external activity in Zone 1. Officers are of the view that 
this would not be acceptable in this rural location, therefore condition have been drafted to 
control this as per the 2019 approval.  

 
6.68 Officers are therefore recommending to Committee that the subject to the conditions listed 

below, and the completion of a s106 legal agreement (to secure the shuttle bus service and 
a landscape management plan as before) the Outline application for up to 26,942 sqm 
employment floorspace, on this site should be granted planning approval. 

 

Page 36



 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.  This development constitutes CIL liable 
development. In the case of outline applications, the CIL charge will be calculated at the 
relevant reserved matters stage. 

 
 
7. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 To approve full planning permission subject to the conditions listed below and the completion 

of a Section 106 Legal Agreement.  
 
7.2 In the event that the legal agreement is not completed within three months of the decision of 

this Committee, the Director of Place be authorised to refuse permission on the grounds of 
failure to secure the obligations necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms. 
 
 
Conditions 

 
1. Plans List 

 
2. Regulatory (Time) Condition: 

 
(a)  Approval of the details of the layout of the development, the scale of each building, 

the appearance of each building, and the landscaping of the development 
(hereinafter called "the Reserved Matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before any development is commenced. 

(b)  Plans and particulars of the Reserved Matters referred to in part (a) above, relating 
to the layout of the development, the scale of each building, the appearance of each 
building, and the landscaping of the development, shall be submitted in writing to the 
Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out as approved. 

(c)  Application for approval of the first Reserved Matters application (which must 
comprise at least one commercial unit), shall be made to the Local Planning Authority 
before the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission. 

(d)  Application for approval of all remaining Reserved Matters applications shall be made 
to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 5 years from the date of this 
permission. 

e)  The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 5 
years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of 2 years from the 
date of approval of the last of the Reserved Matters to be approved, whichever is the 
later. 

 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail 
and to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
3. Regulatory Condition: The submission of Reserved Matters applications pursuant to this 

Outline application shall demonstrate general compliance with the following Parameter Plans 
submitted as part of the Outline application to fix the development principles: 

-  Site Location Plan (Drawing No. 30853-PL-200) 
-  Parameters Plan (Drawing No. 30853-PL-204) 
-  Parameters Plan (Additional Landscape Detail)  

 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail in 
accordance with the NPPF 

Page 37



 
4. Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, other than works of demolition, shall 

commence until a Phasing Plan to cover the whole site has been submitted to and approved, 
in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The Phasing Plan shall identify the separate 
parcels of the site that will be brought forward and include details for the phasing and 
implementation of the boundary planting around the perimeter of the site, with the intention 
that this planting is to be brought forward at the earliest reasonable opportunity within the 
agreed development phase. The details approved on the Phasing Plan shall determine how 
the development parcels and their relevant reserved matters are brought forward. The 
development must be constructed in accordance with the approved Phasing Plan, unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail to 
ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape character and built 
form of the surroundings and preserves and enhances the ecological interests of the site, 
and in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policies 31 & 33 of the Horsham 
District Planning Framework (2015) and to ensure compliance with the NPPF. 

 
5. Pre-Commencement Condition: Notwithstanding the details shown on the Plateau Site 

Contours Plan [reference 18-138D / 605, P1], no site levelling works shall take place for each 
phase until full details of the final land levels to be provided for that phase in relation to nearby 
datum points have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing. The details shall include the proposed grading and mounding of land areas including 
the levels and contours to be formed, showing the relationship of proposed mounding to 
existing vegetation and surrounding landform. The site levelling works shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the commencement of development of any 
building on the site. 
 
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests of 
amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
6. Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, other than works of demolition and site 

levelling, shall commence on any phase until precise details of the finished floor levels of the 
development in that phase in relation to nearby datum points shall have been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development within that phase 
shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests of 
amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
7. Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, other than works of demolition and site 

levelling of that phase, shall commence until finalised detailed surface water drainage 
designs and calculations for that phase, based on sustainable drainage principles, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage designs 
should reflect the submitted site-wide drainage strategy and clearly demonstrate that the 
surface water runoff generated up to and including the 100 year, plus climate change, critical 
storm will not exceed the run-off from the current site following the corresponding rainfall 
event. Development of the relevant Phase shall not commence until full details of the 
maintenance and management of the SuDS system is set out in a site-specific maintenance 
manual and submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Phase shall subsequently be implemented and thereafter maintained in accordance with the 
approved designs. 
 

Page 38



Reason: As this matter is fundamental to prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve 
and protect water quality, improve habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance in 
accordance Policies 35 & 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
8. Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence on any phase, including 

the site levelling works, demolition works, ground clearance, or bringing equipment, 
machinery or materials onto the site, until the following preliminaries have been completed 
in the sequence set out below: 
• All hedgerows, trees and vegetation on the site shown for retention, as well as those off-

site whose root protection areas ingress into the site, shall be fully protected by tree 
protective fencing affixed to the ground in full accordance with section 6 of BS 5837 
'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations' (2012). 

• Once installed, the fencing shall be maintained during the course of the development 
works and until all machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. 

• Areas so fenced off shall be treated as zones of prohibited access, and shall not be used 
for the storage of materials, equipment or machinery in any circumstances. No mixing of 
cement, concrete, or use of other materials or substances shall take place within any tree 
protective zone, or close enough to such a zone that seepage or displacement of those 
materials and substances could cause them to enter a zone. 

 
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory retention of 
important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham 
District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
9. Pre-Commencement Condition: Notwithstanding the details included within the submitted 

Construction Phase Plan, no development on any phase, including any works of demolition 
and site levelling, shall commence until a Construction Environment Management Plan 
(CEMP) for that phase has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved CEMP shall be a single document and shall be strictly adhered to 
throughout the construction period for each phase. The CEMP shall provide for, but not be 
limited to: 

 
i. An introduction consisting of construction phase environmental management plan, 

definitions and abbreviations and project description and location; 
ii. A description of management responsibilities; 
iii. A description of the construction programme which identifies activities likely to cause 

high levels of noise or dust; 
iv. Site working hours and a named person for residents to contact; 
v. Detailed Site logistics arrangements, shown on a plan; 
vi. Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage; 
vii. The anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during construction 
viii. Details of construction traffic routing, shown on a plan; 
ix. Details of any floodlighting, including location, height, type, timing and direction of 

light sources and intensity of illumination 
x. Details regarding dust and noise (including vibration) mitigation measures to be 

deployed including identification of sensitive receptors and ongoing monitoring; 
xi. Details of the hours of works and other measures to mitigate the impact of 

construction on the amenity of the area and safety of the highway network; 
xii. Communication procedures with the LBL and local community regarding key 

construction issues - newsletters, fliers etc. 
xiii. Locations and details of the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate 
xiv. The provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the 

impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of temporary 
Traffic Regulation Orders that may be required), 

xv. Details of a scheme for the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from site clearance 
and construction works 

Page 39



 
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in the interests of good site management, highway 
safety, and to protect the amenities of adjacent businesses and residents during construction 
works to accord with Policies 33 & 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
10. Pre-Commencement Condition: Notwithstanding the detail submitted, no development on 

any phase, including any works of demolition or site levelling, shall commence until the 
following components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination, 
(including asbestos contamination), of the site as a whole have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 
(a) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

• all previous uses 
• potential contaminants associated with those uses 
• a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
• potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

 
The following aspects (b) - (d) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above preliminary 
risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required. 

 
(b) An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a detailed 

risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by any contamination to all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
 

(c) The intrusive site investigation results following (b) and, based on these, a detailed 
method statement, giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they 
are to be undertaken. 

 
(d) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 

demonstrate that the works set out in (c) are complete and identifying any requirements 
for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action where required. 

 
The development hereby permitted is to be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to 
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development 
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of 
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
11. Pre-Commencement Condition: No development on any phase, other than works of 

demolition and site levelling, shall commence until full details of the soft boundary 
landscaping works have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. The submitted details shall include: 
 

i. Details of all buffer planting including species, numbers and planting size of all trees 
and plants, and timetable for their delivery; 

ii. Provision for bat and bird boxes to accord with the recommendations set out at 
paragraphs 5.3.16 and 5.3.26 of the Ecological Assessment (Ecological Solutions 
dated September 2017); 

iii. Details of all boundary treatments including any security fencing and gates to include 
the retention and maintenance thereafter of the existing acoustic fence alongside the 
side and rear boundaries of ‘Quarries’ with Zones 2 & 3. 

 

Page 40



The approved landscape scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and the phasing plan submitted under condition 4. All planting identified within the 
'early planting zone' on Parameters Plan [30853-PL-204] shall be carried out no later than 
the first planting season following the completion of the site levelling works approved under 
condition 5. All perimeter planting within Zone 1 shall be carried out no later than the first 
planting season following the commencement of above ground works within Zone 1, or within 
the first planting season following first occupation of any unit within Zones 2 or 3, whichever 
is the sooner. All other perimeter planting to be carried out in accordance with the agreed 
phasing plan. 
 
Any plants, which within a period of 5 years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure a satisfactory development that is 
sympathetic to the landscape character and form of the surroundings and preserves and 
enhances the ecological interests of the site, and in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policies 31 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
12. Pre-Commencement (slab level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab level 

within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall take place until full details of the 
hard and soft landscaping works for that phase have been submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall include: 

i. Details of all hard surfacing materials and layouts 
ii. Details of all planting including species, numbers and planting size of all trees and 

plants 
iii. A detailed lighting scheme for all external areas to accord with the recommendations 

set out at paragraphs 5.3.18 of the Ecological Assessment (Ecological Solutions 
dated September 2017) and to accord with the Institute of Lighting Professional's 
Guidance notes for the reduction of obstructive light. The lighting scheme must be 
designed by a suitably qualified person in accordance with the recommendations for 
environmental zone E1 in the ILP document "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of 
Obtrusive Light GN01:2011. 

iv. Details of any cctv provision 
v. Details of all boundary treatments including any security fencing 

 
The approved landscape and lighting scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with 
the approved details. All planting shall be carried out no later than the first planting season 
following the first occupation of any part of the phase. Any plants, which within a period of 5 
years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and 
townscape character and built form of the surroundings and preserves and enhances the 
ecological interests of the site, and in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with 
Policies 31 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
13. Pre-Commencement (slab level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab level 

within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a phase-wide 
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Biodiversity Enhancement 
Strategy shall accord with the recommendations made in the submitted Ecological 
Assessment - Update (Ecology Solutions, September 2021), the Ecological Assessment 
(Ecology Solutions, September 2017) and the Ecological Mitigation & Maintenance Plan 
(v003, Drummond Ecology, June 2019). The Strategy shall include (but not be limited to) the 
following: 

Page 41



a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures; 
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives; 
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans; 
d) details of external lighting, including identification of features on site that are 
particularly sensitive for bats, provision of lighting contour plans, Isolux drawings and 
technical specifications: 
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures: 
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term management and maintenance (where 
relevant). 

 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be 
retained in that manner thereafter. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting 
be installed without prior consent from the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity of the 
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and 
to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties 
under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
 

14. Pre-commencement (slab level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab level 
within any phase of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a management 
and maintenance plan for the rainwater harvesting system has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management and maintenance plan 
shall include the following details: 
• The sampling regime and parameters etc, recognising that the sampling will need to be 

undertaken by a DWI certified sampler and analysed by a UKAS accredited lab. 
• Detail on how any failure of any samples will be investigated and managed. 
• Details, including a plan or schematic, showing the supply – storage tanks, treatment etc, 

and means to record the total water consumption of each unit. 
• Detail on the type of treatment that will be installed on the supply, with information clearly 

indicating that it is appropriate for the amount of water being used. 
• Detail on how the treatment system, pipework, tanks etc will be cleaned and maintained 

and who will maintain them for the lifetime of the development. This should include any 
re-activation of the system after it has been out of use due to lack of rainfall/use. 

• The completion and sharing of the Regulation 6 risk assessment by a suitably competent 
person (as required by the Private Water Supply (England) Regulations 2016) prior to 
the water supply being put into use.  

• Detail on the continuity of supply during dry periods extending beyond 35 days. 
• Arrangements for keeping written records of all sampling, results of analysis, inspection, 

cleaning, and maintenance.  
• Details of contingency plans to ensure any failure’s or reported concerns with the supply 

are investigated and rectified as soon as possible, including timeframes. This should 
include notification of the investigation and corrective actions to the local authority. 

• The management and maintenance plan shall be operated in full at all times.  No 
alterations or revisions to the approved management plan shall be implemented without 
the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is water neutral to avoid an adverse impact on the Arun 
Valley SACSPA and Ramsar sites in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015), Paragraphs 179 and 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 

 
15. Pre-Occupation Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in full 

accordance with the Water Neutrality Statement (CSA, M374/19, Rev 09, dated 28 
November 2022). No unit hereby permitted shall be first occupied until evidence has been 

Page 42



submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that the approved 
water neutrality strategy for that unit has been implemented in full. The evidence shall include 
the specification of fittings and appliances used, evidence of their installation, evidence they 
meet the required water consumption flow rates, and evidence of the installation and 
connection of the rainwater harvesting system and appropriate storage tanks to provide a 
minimum 35 days of storage capacity. The installed measures shall be retained and operated 
as such, at all times thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is water neutral to avoid an adverse impact on the Arun 
Valley SACSPA and Ramsar sites in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015), Paragraphs 179 and 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
 

16. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any phase of the 
development hereby permitted, a scheme of air quality mitigation for the relevant phase shall 
have been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
details shall have regard to the submitted Air Quality Assessment [AQ051880, V4], the 
Council's latest Air Quality & Emissions Reduction Guidance document, as well as West 
Sussex County Council's latest 'Guidance on Parking at New Developments'. The approved 
scheme shall be installed prior to first occupation of the development and shall thereafter 
remain as such. 
 
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to 
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for 
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 
(2015). 
 

17. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any phase of the 
development hereby permitted, a Noise Management Plan for the relevant phase or unit shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan 
shall include, but not be limited to: 
• provision for a single point of contact for all complaints, 
• management responsibilities during all operating hours, 
• measures to control noise from all activities and operations at the site (including the 

operation of any equipment plant, or building services) and minimising noise from 
vehicles, deliveries and servicing, 

• Details on the construction specification of each unit to minimise noise escape, including 
details of all surfacing. 

 
The noise management plan shall be regularly reviewed to ensure that it takes account of 
current operational practices at the site. The relevant units shall operate at all times in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of adjacent occupiers 
in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 
(2015). 
 

18. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any phase of the 
development hereby permitted, a Travel Plan for that phase shall have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall be completed 
in accordance with the latest guidance and good practice documentation as published by the 
Department for Transport or as advised by the Highway Authority, and shall include details 
to mitigate impacts on air quality as set out in the Council's latest Air Quality & Emissions 
Reduction Guidance document, as well as West Sussex County Council's 'Guidance on 
Parking at New Developments' (May 2019), and shall be implemented in accordance with 

Page 43



the approved details. The applicant shall use all reasonable endeavours to work with other 
businesses in the immediate area to co-ordinate the measures within the Travel Plan. 
 
Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport and mitigate the impacts of the 
development on air quality in accordance with Policies 35, 40 & 41 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015). 

 
19. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any phase of the 

development hereby permitted, a verification report demonstrating that the SuDS drainage 
system for that phase has been constructed in accordance with the design details approved 
under Condition 7, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Each phase of the development shall thereafter be maintained in 
accordance with the approved report. 
 
Reason: To ensure a SuDS drainage system has been provided to an acceptable standard 
to the reduce risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, improve habitat and 
amenity, and ensure future maintenance in accordance Policies 35 and 38 of the Horsham 
District Planning Framework (2015). 
 

20. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any phase of development 
hereby permitted, details of site security arrangements for that phase shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved security 
measures shall be implemented prior to first occupation or use of any unit within that phase, 
in accordance with the approved details, and shall be retained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure the site is appropriately secured to minimise opportunities for anti-social 
behaviour and crime in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
21. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any unit within the 

development hereby permitted, details for the provision of refuse/recycling storage for that 
unit shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The details shall include the size of bins, their location, means of enclosure and the details 
of the proposed refuse collector. The storage facilities shall be fully constructed, and 
thereafter be retained for use at all times in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in accordance 
with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
22. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any unit within the 

development hereby permitted, details of secure and covered cycle parking facilities for the 
occupants of, and visitors to that unit shall have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved cycle parking facilities shall be fully 
constructed, and thereafter be retained for use at all times in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in accordance 
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
23. Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any unit within the 

development hereby permitted, the car parking spaces necessary to serve that unit shall 
have been fully constructed and made available for use in accordance with plans and details 
that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Parking 
provision for each unit shall have regard to the parking standards for commercial sites set 
out in West Sussex County Council’s latest Parking Guidance and shall include a scheme 
for the provision of electrical vehicle charging by way of both fast and rapid charging points. 

Page 44



The car parking spaces for each unit shall be constructed as approved, and thereafter be 
retained at all times for their designated use. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate parking facilities are available to serve the development given 
the limited sustainable transport options for the site, to ensure no overspill parking into the 
wider area, and to mitigate the impacts of the development on air quality in accordance with 
Policies 35, 40 & 41of the Horsham District Planning Framework. 

 
24. Post-Occupation Condition: Within 3 months of the occupation of each unit, evidence of 

the water consumption of the unit occupants shall have be submitted to and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority, by the unit’s landlord or occupants. The evidence 
shall demonstrate that in combination with all other units sharing the same rainwater 
harvesting system, there is sufficient water supply from the rainwater harvesting system to 
cater for the demand of the units with a minimum of 35 days drought storage capacity. In the 
event the existing rainwater harvesting system fails to cater for the combined water 
consumption of the units, details of how suitable rainwater supply and storage will be 
provided shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
alongside the above evidence and shall be installed within 1 month of the date of its approval.   
Ongoing written evidence shall be made available to council officers upon their reasonable 
request. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is water neutral to avoid an adverse impact on the Arun 
Valley SACSPA and Ramsar sites in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015), Paragraphs 179 and 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
 

25. Regulatory Condition: All works within the development hereby permitted shall be carried 
out in full accordance with the ecological mitigation and enhancement measures and/or 
works contained within the Ecological Assessment - Update (Ecology Solutions, September 
2021), the Ecological Assessment (Ecology Solutions, September 2017) and the Ecological 
Mitigation & Maintenance Plan (v003, Drummond Ecology, June 2019). 
 
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and priority species in accordance with the UK 
Habitats Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, s40 of the NERC Act 2006, 
and Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
26. Regulatory Condition: No external operations or activities, including the operation of plant 

and machinery, workshop processes, deliveries and dispatches, shall take place within Zone 
1 as shown on the Parameters Plan (drawing 30853-PL-204) except between the hours of 
0700 to 2300 hours Mondays to Saturdays and 0800 to 1300 hours Sundays and public 
holidays. All external shutters and doors to the buildings within Zone 1 shall be closed except 
between these hours. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of neighbouring 
properties in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
27. Regulatory Condition: No operations or activities, including the operation of plant and 

machinery, workshop processes, deliveries and dispatches, shall take place within Zones 2 
and 3 as shown on the Parameters Plan (drawing 30853-PL-204) except between the 
following hours: 
• Zone 2 - 0700 to 2000 hours Mondays to Saturdays, and at no times on Sundays and 

public holidays. 
• Zone 3 - 0700 to 2000 hours Monday to Friday, 0800 to 1400 on Saturdays and at no 

times on Sundays and Public Holidays 
 

Page 45



All external shutters and doors to the buildings within Zones 2 and 3 shall be closed except 
between these hours. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of neighbouring 
properties in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
28. Regulatory Condition: No external lighting, other than low level lighting to emergency exits, 

shall be operated within Zone 1 as shown on the Parameters Plan (drawing 30853-PL-204) 
between the hours of 2330 to 0630 hours the following day on Mondays to Fridays, between 
2330 and 0730 hours the following day on Saturdays, and between 1330 and 0630 hours 
the following day on Sundays and public holidays. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the ecology and tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of 
adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26 & 33 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015). 
 

29. Regulatory Condition: No external lighting, other than low level lighting to emergency exits, 
shall be operated within Zones 2 and 3 as shown on the Parameters Plan (drawing 30853-
PL-204) between the hours of 2030 to 0630 hours the following day on Mondays to Fridays, 
between 2030 and 0730 hours the following day on Saturdays, and at no time on Sundays 
and public holidays. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the ecology and tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of 
adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26 & 33 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015). 
 

30. Regulatory Condition: No building within the development hereby permitted shall have an 
eaves greater than 10m in height or shall exceed 12m in height overall. Within the Reduced 
Eaves Height Zone as illustrated on Parameters Plan (drawing 30853-PL-204), the maximum 
eaves height of building elevations facing Quarries or Nowhurst Lane shall not exceed 6 
metres and the overall height of any building falling within this zone shall not exceed 10 
metres. Other than any building and any necessary emergency escape routes, no structures 
or activity shall take place within the Reduced Eaves Height Zone. No external plant is to be 
located in this Zone without the express permission of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the site to safeguard the wider landscape, 
amenities of adjacent residents and appearance of Nowhurst Lane and the setting of listed 
buildings in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26, 32, 33 & 34 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
31. Regulatory Condition: The total gross internal floorspace for all E(g. iii) and B2 uses within 

the development hereby permitted shall not exceed 13,471sqm or 50% of the total gross 
internal floorspace provided within the development as a whole, whichever is the lower. 
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable balance of uses across the development and to ensure the 
traffic generation form the site is sustainable having regard the car park facilities within the 
wider development to ensure no overspill parking into surrounding roads to accord with 
Policies 40 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
32. Regulatory Condition: No outside storage of waste, materials, machinery or products shall 

take place at any time.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the site and tranquillity of the countryside and 
amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26, 32 & 33 of the 
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 

Page 46



33. Regulatory Condition: No operations involving the use of power tools or other noise 
generating plant, machinery or equipment (with the exception of fork-lift truck movements), 
shall be undertaken within the development other than within the buildings hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of neighbouring 
properties in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015). 

 
34. Regulatory Condition: No externally located plant or equipment shall be installed or 

operated without Reserved Matters Approval or express planning consent from the Local 
Planning Authority first being obtained. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the tranquillity of the countryside and amenities of adjacent residents 
in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 26 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 
(2015). 

 
35. Regulatory Condition: Following first occupation of each unit within the development, no 

mezzanine or additional floor levels shall be constructed within that unit without express 
planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being obtained. 
 
Reason: To ensure the traffic generation form the site is sustainable having regard the car 
park facilities within the wider development to ensure no overspill parking into surrounding 
roads to accord with Policies 40 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
36. Regulatory Condition: No trees, hedges or shrubs on the site, other than those the Local 

Planning Authority has agreed to be felled as part of this permission, shall be wilfully 
damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent 
of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development hereby 
permitted. Any existing or proposed trees, hedges or shrubs on the site, whether within the 
tree protective areas or not, which die or become damaged during the construction process 
shall be replaced with trees, hedging plants or shrubs of a type, size and in positions agreed 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the retention and maintenance of trees and vegetation on the site 
unsuitable for permanent protection by Tree Preservation Order for a limited period, in 
accordance with policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
37. Regulatory Condition: No importation of soil and other fill materials onto the development 

site shall take place unless the soil/fill has been certified as fit for purpose by a competent 
person and has been subject to analysis by an accredited laboratory to ensure that it is free 
from contamination. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or 
the wider environment during and following the development works in accordance with 
Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
38. Regulatory Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until 

a fire hydrant(s) to BS 750 standards or stored water supply (in accordance with the West 
Sussex Fire and Rescue Guidance Notes) has been installed, connected to a water supply 
with appropriate pressure and volume for firefighting, and made ready for use in consultation 
with the WSCC Fire and Rescue Service. The hydrant(s) or stored water supply shall 
thereafter be retained as such. 
 
Reason: In accordance with fire and safety regulations in accordance with Policy 33 of the 
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 
 

Page 47



39. Regulatory Condition: If contamination, including presence of asbestos containing 
materials, not previously identified is found to be present at the site then no further 
development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be 
carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the Local Planning 
Authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained 
written approval from the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be 
implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or 
the wider environment during and following the development works and to ensure that any 
pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning 
Framework (2015) and Paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 
40. Regulatory condition: No unit hereby permitted shall be connected to or draw supply from 

the mains water supply except for emergency purposes in the event of a temporary failure of 
the rainwater harvesting system. Where a temporary failure has occurred, the occupiers shall 
immediately undertake the contingency measures set out in the management and 
maintenance plan agreed under Condition 14 until such time as the system is fully 
operational. The occupiers of each unit shall keep an ongoing record of all water taken from 
the mains supply and hold written evidence to explain why it was necessary as an 
exceptional measure to take water from the mains supply. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is water neutral to avoid an adverse impact on the Arun 
Valley SACSPA and Ramsar sites in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015), Paragraphs 179 and 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
 

41. Regulatory Condition: No part of the site hereby permitted shall be designated, equipped 
or used as a vehicle washing area without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is water neutral to avoid an adverse impact on the Arun 
Valley SACSPA and Ramsar sites in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015), Paragraphs 179 and 180 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). 
 

42. Regulatory Condition: Piling using penetrative methods shall not be carried out on any part 
of the development site, without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to avoid any unacceptable risks to groundwater resources, in accordance 
with Policy 24 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and Paragraph 174 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 

43. Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order revoking and/or 
re-enacting that Order) no development falling within Classes H and J of Part 7 of Schedule 
2 of the order shall be erected, constructed or placed within the curtilage(s) of the 
development hereby permitted without express planning consent from the Local Planning 
Authority first being obtained. 
 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity to protect the rural character of the area in 
accordance with Policies 25, 26, 27 & 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
44. Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order amending or revoking 

Page 48



and/or re-enacting that Order) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the premises hereby 
permitted shall be used for Class E(g)(iii), B2 of B8 use only and for no other purposes 
whatsoever, (including used for the storage and wholesale sale of goods 
to/retailers/professional buildings and allied traders/only and for no other purposes falling 
within Class E other than E(g)(iii) as defined in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) without express 
planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being obtained 

  
Reason: To ensure the development remains in employment use and as the site is not within 
an area where permission for shopping purposes or town centre uses would normally be 
granted and to ensure the development remains in appropriate employment use in 
accordance with Policies 7 & 9 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
45. Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order amending or revoking 
and/or re-enacting that Order) and the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the premises hereby 
permitted shall not include trade counters or showroom/retail uses without express planning 
consent from the Local Planning Authority first being obtained.  
 
Reason: The site is not within an area where permission for shopping purposes or town 
centre uses would normally be granted and to ensure the development remains in 
appropriate employment use in accordance with Policies 7 & 9 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES TO APPLICANT 
 
1. Conditions to be Discharged 

 
Please be advised that there are conditions on this notice that will require the submission of 
details to be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority.  To approve these details, 
you will need to submit an "Application for approval of details reserved by condition" with an 
application form and pay the appropriate fee.  Guidance and the forms can be found at 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/paperforms 
 

2. Noise Management 
 
The applicant is advised to have regard the good practice detailed within the Transport for 
London document 'Code of Practice for Quieter Deliveries' (December 2017) and the 
Department for Transport Document 'Quiet Deliveries Good Practice Guidance- Key Principles 
and Processes for Freight Operators' when preparing the Noise Management Plan required 
under Condition 17. The Noise Management Plan should also include details of the following: 
• Details of a Noise Complaints Register to keep a record of complaints received and actions 

taken, including where reasonable and necessary modification of the Plan in consultation 
with the LPA; the LPA to be able to inspect the register at its request, 

• Details of arrangements for on-going (being not less than bi-annually) liaison with local 
residents, parish council and local authority, including to address any problems and/or 

Page 49

http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/paperforms


complaints which may have arisen and to identify any measures which may be taken to 
mitigate any such problems, 

• Details of arrangements to ensure the Noise Management Plan is reviewed and maintained 
to ensure its continuing effectiveness when occupiers change the nature of operations or 
new tenants start operating at the site. 

 
3. Wildlife Protection 

 
The applicant’s attention is drawn to the provisions of both the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992.  Under these Acts, it is an offence to intentionally or 
recklessly kill, disturb, damage or destroy a protected species or its habitat.  This includes but is 
not limited to wild birds, bats, badgers, dormice, reptiles and great crested newts. 

 
4. Ordinary Watercourse Consent 

 
Under the Land Drainage Act 1991, any works (permanent or temporary) that have the potential 
to affect the existing watercourse or ditch’s ability to convey water will require the Ordinary 
Watercourse Consent.  Ordinary watercourses include streams, drains, ditches and passages 
through which water flows that do not form the network of main rivers. More information is 
available via this link: https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/dealing-with-
extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-
drainage-consent/# 

 
5. Environmental Permit Required 

 
The applicant should note that any waste soils or hardcore imported to the site will require either 
an environmental permit, or be covered by a waste exemption under the Environmental Permit 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2016. 

 
6. Contaminated Materials 

 
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both 
chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of any proposed on-site operations are 
clear. If in doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at an early stage to 
avoid any delays. Enquiries should be directed to our National Customer Contact Centre on 
03708 506 506 (Monday to Friday 8am to 6pm) or by emailing enquiries@environment-
agency.gov.uk. 

 
7. Groundwater Protection Advice 

 
The Environment Agency would like to refer the Applicant to the EA groundwater position 
statements in ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection’, available from 
gov.uk. This publication sets out the EA position for a wide range of activities and developments, 
including: Discharge of liquid effluents, Land contamination, and Drainage. 

 
8. Pollution Prevention 

 
The Environment Agency advise that all precautions must be taken to avoid discharges and 
spills to the ground both during and after construction. Guidance on pollution prevention for 
businesses can be found on the gov.uk website https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pollution-
prevention-for-businesses. In the event of a pollution incident, all works should cease 
immediately and the Environment Agency should be contacted via our incident hotline 0800 80 
70 60 (24-hour service). 

 
 
 
 

Page 50

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/dealing-with-extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-drainage-consent/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/dealing-with-extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-drainage-consent/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/dealing-with-extreme-weather/dealing-with-flooding/flood-risk-management/ordinary-watercourse-land-drainage-consent/
mailto:enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk


 
 
Background Papers: 
DC/21/2873 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO.  ©  Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Scale:

06) DC/21/2873

Nowhurst Business Park, Guildford Road, Broadbridge Heath, 
West Sussex

1:5,000

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Horsham District Council

26/01/2023

100023865

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Contact Officer: Tamara Dale Tel: 01403 215166 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT 

 

TO: Planning Committee  

BY: Head of Development and Building Control 

DATE: 
 
7th February 2023 
 

DEVELOPMENT: 
Demolition of tractor shed and cottage. Erection of 1no replacement two-
storey dwelling, conversion and restoration of clock tower and stable 
building to form 1no two-storey dwelling with associated car parking and 
landscaping. 

SITE: Honeywood House Horsham Road Rowhook Horsham West Sussex RH12 
3QD   

WARD: Rudgwick 

APPLICATION: DC/22/2037 

APPLICANT: Name: Mr Scott Davis   Address: C/O Agent        

 
REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households 

have made written representations within the 
consultation period raising material planning 
considerations that are inconsistent with the 
recommendation of the Head of Development 
and Building Control. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: To refuse planning permission 
 
 
1. THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 

 
1.1 To consider the planning application. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION 

 
1.2 The application seeks full planning permission for the partial demolition and partial 

conversion of existing outbuildings to provide 2no. residential dwellings.  
 
1.3 The proposal also includes the provision of car parking, amenity areas, and landscaping. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE 
 
1.4 The application site lies to the east of Horsham Road, and to the north of the unclassified 

settlement of Rowhook.  
 
1.5 The site consists of a former manor house that has been converted into a nursing home, with 

a number of detached outbuildings positioned to the west of the main building. An area of 
hardstanding, currently utilised as a car park, is positioned to the south of the building, with 
access provided from Horsham Road.  

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



 
1.6 The site itself is surrounded by flat open countryside, with an area of woodland positioned to 

the south-west and north of the existing buildings, to which a walled garden sits centrally.  
 
1.7 A public footpath dissects the site from north-east to south-west and runs along the western 

boundary of the existing outbuildings. The wider surroundings are characterised by sporadic 
residential and commercial development, primarily set back from the public highway, with a 
residential dwelling known as Canada Bungalow positioned to the east of the existing manor 
house. 

 
 
2. INTRODUCTION 
 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 
2.2 The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application: 

 
2.3 National Planning Policy Framework 

 
2.4 Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015) 

Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development  
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development  
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy 
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion  
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth  
Policy 9 - Employment Development  
Policy 10 - Rural Economic Development  
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision 
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs 
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character  
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection  
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development  
Policy 33 - Development Principles  
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets  
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change  
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use  
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction  
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport  
Policy 41 - Parking  
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities 
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation  

 
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

2.5 Rudgwick Neighbourhood Plan 
RNP1 – Spatial Strategy 
RNP2 – Housing Mix 
RNP5 – Housing Density 
RNP6 – Materials 
RNP7 – Architectural Style 
RNP8 – Development Height 
RNP9 – Street Scene 
 
PARISH DESIGN STATEMENT 

Page 56



2.6 Rudgwick Parish Design Statement 
 

 
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS  
RW/12/53 C/u from private dwelling to convalescent guest house  Application Permitted on 

09.09.1953 
  

RW/19/53 Use as convalescent guest house 
Comment: Pre 4/93 mole valley 

Application Permitted on 
05.10.1953 
  

RW/65/63 Dwelling 
Comment: Pre 4/93 mole valley 

Application Refused on 
10.06.1963 
  

RW/66/63 House in conjunction with use as convalescent home 
Comment: Pre 4/93 mole valley 

Application Permitted on 
03.09.1963 
  

RW/67/63 Convert stable block to staff accom 
Comment: Pre 4/93 mole valley 

Application Permitted on 
26.09.1963 
  

DC/16/2637 Erection of four x 3 bedroom semi-detached dwellings 
with detached garages; demolition of outbuildings and 
creation of 25 space car park 

Application Refused on 
13.04.2017 
 
Appeal dismissed on 
27.03.2017 
  

DC/19/0291 Demolition of outbuildings and erection of 3.no 
dwellings with detached garages and creation of 
overflow car park 

Application Refused on 
05.04.2019 
  

DC/20/0562 Demolition of outbuildings and erection of 3.No three 
bedroom dwellings, including a pair of semi-detached 
units, with detached garages; creation of overflow car 
park 

Application Refused on 
09.04.2021 
 

 
DC/22/1187 Demolition of tractor shed and cottage. Erection of 

2no. two storey dwellings, conversion and restoration 
of clock tower and stable building to form a two storey 
dwelling; associated car parking and landscaping. 

Application Refused on 
18.08.2022 
 
Appeal pending 
  

 
3. OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS 
 
3.1 Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have 

had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public 
file at www.horsham.gov.uk  

 
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS 

 
3.2 HDC Conservation (Response received 09.12.2022): Following the previously refused 

applications, welcome the Applicant’s appreciation of the historic and architectural 
significance of the ancillary buildings and the contribution they make to Honeywood House. 
Welcome the proposal to retain and rehabilitate the historic stable building. However, the 
proposed extension of this building, replacing inappropriate extensions, will not reverse the 
harm resulting from these later additions. The position and design will continue the dilution 
of the historic interest of this building. Support the conversion of the stable but question the 
need for the additional ground floor accommodation to enable the development. Also 
unconvinced by the size, orientation and design of the new unit. The design is reminiscent 
of suburban executive homes rather than a converted farm building as is intended. A building 
of this type would not be found in this context alongside the principal drive and so close to 
the country house. In order to preserve the setting of the non-designated heritage asset, 
suggest the scheme is scaled down and the design of the new unit revisited. 

 

Page 57

http://www.horsham.gov.uk/


3.3 HDC Arboricultural Officer (Response received 06.12.2022): Regrettably, despite a 
number of mature trees in close proximity to the site, no tree survey or AIA has been 
submitted with the application. The relationship of retained mature trees of significance to 
the landscape setting of the house is in some instances very poor in respect of the proposed 
layout. 

 
3.4 The submitted ecological information purports to have checked for the presence of Ancient 

Woodland (AW) on the Magic website however, it does not identify the fact that part of the 
woodland to the immediate North of the site, partially proposed for inclusion within a garden 
for the proposed new dwelling, is AW. In fact the multi-stem tree shown included within the 
new curtilage for the house is an AW indicator Crab apple tree of County significance for its 
size. 

 
3.5 In accordance with NPPF and Local Plan policy, it is important to respect the irreplaceable 

value of this habitat and ensure all new development, including recreational space 
associated therewith, maintains the minimum buffer requirements in this respect.   

 
3.6 The application does not respect the minimum recommended buffer to AW from new 

development/domestic curtilage expansion. Recommend withdrawal, or alternatively refusal 
in respect of failure to conform with both local and national requirements for conservation of 
Ancient Woodland, which is a material consideration in the assessment of landscape impact. 

  
3.7 HDC Arboricultural Officer (Subsequent response dated 28.12.2022): There does 

appear some discrepancy in terms of post war woodland extent in close proximity to the 
site.  As highlighted in the consultation response, the presence of the multistem crab apple 
is very good evidence that some form of wooded linkage was retained up to the Sussex 
Border Path route at the rear of the buildings, during the latter half of the 20th century.   

 
3.8 The onus is for the applicant/land owner to deal directly with Natural England (NE) if they 

seek a change to the provisional inventory for Ancient Woodland (AW).  It maybe that historic 
aerial photography could show the area de-forested at some point in time in which case NE 
may alter their view, perhaps dependant on whether they feel the tree felling and subsequent 
land usage/change was for a time period that was significant enough to alter the soil 
composition and its seedbank. 

 
3.9 Until Natural England advise otherwise, the evidence points towards the current inventory, 

upon which the LPA rely for decision making, as being correct.  
 
3.10 HDC Environmental Health: Commercial or agricultural buildings can be subject to 

significant contamination risks arising from their use, construction and storage of machinery, 
equipment, fuels or other chemicals. Potentially hazardous materials may also be 
incorporated in made ground, yards and hard standings. Information is required on these 
matters and a Preliminary Risk Assessment including a site walkover should be provided to 
ensure the application is properly determined. 
 

  

Page 58



OUTSIDE AGENCIES 
 

3.11 WSCC Highways: Both dwellings will be accessed via an existing private access road. No 
alterations are proposed to the existing point of access on to the maintained highway. 
Considering the scale of what is proposed, the LHA does not anticipate that the proposed 
development would lead to a material intensification of use of the existing access. 

 
3.12 Both dwellings will be served by a double-bay garage with driveway. The WSCC Car Parking 

Demand Calculator indicates that a development of this size and location would require six 
car parking spaces. From inspection of the plans, the proposed garages and driveways are 
suitably sized to accommodate the anticipated parking demand. On-site turning appears 
achievable, allowing vehicles to exit the site in a forward gear. Regarding cycles, the 
proposed garages are suitably sized to be accommodate two cycles each, in accordance 
with WSCC Parking Standards. 

 
3.13 The site is situated in a rural location that lacks access to nearby services and amenities. In 

addition, Horsham Road is unlit and lacks footways in this location. As such, residents may 
have a reliance on the private car. Cycling to larger urban areas is an option for confident 
cyclists. 

 
3.14 The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on 

highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway 
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 
111), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal. 

 
3.15 WSCC Public Rights of Way: Public Footpath 92Sy runs through the proposed 

development, within the red line of the application boundary. The application notes that the 
used route of the path has deviated over time and no longer follows its legal definitive line 
which runs close to the north-western face of the existing building line. The application 
acknowledges the intention to divert the legal line of the footpath to a route marked 'Track' 
on drawing 83_203 but does not state the intended legal process to achieve this outcome. 

 
3.16 Advise the Applicant to apply to the LPA for an order to divert Footpath 92Sy under the Town 

& Country Planning Act 1990, Section 257. If the applicant applies for, and the LPA confirms 
an order for such a diversion, the Public Right of Way team offer no objection to the planning 
application; the PROW Team will be consulted on the diversion order in due course. 

 
3.17 If the Applicant does not apply to divert the footpath, or such application is declined by the 

LPA or is unsuccessful, the legal line will remain as recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way in West Sussex and the path must be reinstated on the 
legal alignment. 

 
3.18 Southern Water: There are no public foul sewers in the area to serve this development. The 

Applicant is advised to examine alternative means of foul disposal. 
 
3.19 Woodland Trust: Holding Objection 
 
3.20 Support the Assistant Arboricultural Officer’s comments in relation to the requirement for an 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment, and their concerns regarding the use of the ancient 
woodland as part of the garden area. Such use will likely result in the deterioration of the 
ancient woodland edge and could lead to the inclusion of infrastructure within the wood if 
usual permitted development rights are retained. 

 
3.21 Natural England and Forestry Commission’s standing advice states that “you should not 

approve development proposals, including gardens, within a buffer zone.” Therefore, the site 
layout should be reconfigured to ensure that the adjacent ancient woodland will be located 

Page 59



outside of the garden area and afforded suitable mitigation efforts to reduce impact during 
redevelopment of the existing buildings. 

 
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS 

 
3.22 Rusper Parish Council: No Objection subject to permitted development rights being 

removed, the issues by the Arboricultural Officer being resolved, clarity as to how foul 
sewage would be dealt with, and clarification on CIL matters 

 
3.23 20 letters of support were received (13 letters from households within the District and 7 letters 

from households outside of the District). These can be summarised as follows: 
 

- No impact on neighbours 
- Would provide additional accommodation in national shortage 
- Provide revenue for the Nursing Home 
- Remove unsightly derelict buildings 
- Redevelop in a sympathetic manner 
- Retains and preserves historic features 
- History of residential use on the site 
- Number of other occupied residential dwellings in the area 
- No landscape or woodland affected 
- Support community facility 

 
 
4. HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
4.1 Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol 

(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application, 
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below. 

 
 
5. HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER 
 
5.1 It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on 

crime and disorder. 
 
 

6. PLANNING ASSESSMENTS 
 
6.1 The application relates to the partial conversion and partial demolition of existing buildings, 

and the creation of 2no. residential dwellings.  
 

Principle of Development:  
 

6.2 The application site has been subject of a previous refusals of planning permission under 
references DC/16/2637, DC/19/0291 and DC/20/0562 for residential development 
comprising of 3no. dwellings. These proposals differed in location and quantum of 
development, but all previous applications related to new-build dwellings within the site, 
which were put forward on the grounds of providing additional funds to support the continued 
maintenance works of the nursing home. The first application was subject of a dismissed 
appeal.  
 

6.3 The Inspector, in dismissing an earlier submission (ref: DC/16/2637), outlined that the 
proposed dwellings would not be isolated in the sense that they would be close to a large 
nursing home but they would still be remote from day to day services. The provision of market 
housing in this location not linked to a rural use would be contrary to Policy 26 and not be in 
accordance with the overarching spatial strategy for development within the HDPF. It was 

Page 60



therefore concluded that the site would not be a suitable location for housing unless material 
considerations indicated otherwise. 
 

6.4 The appeal Inspector also acknowledged that the development would provide much needed 
income for the nursing home, which itself provides a community facility and employment. It 
was however concluded that the development would not necessarily ensure the long-term 
future of the home on completion of priority maintenance. It was not considered to be 
sufficiently demonstrated that the scale of the development proposal was commensurate with 
the financial need of the nursing home, with the likely income generated from the 
development appearing to cover more than the main requirements. It was also determined 
that the scale of the development was not justified in relation to the remote location of the 
houses. In dismissing the appeal it was concluded that while social and economic benefits 
would arise from the continuance of the nursing home at the site, these benefits did not 
outweigh the harm that would arise from the development. The remote location of the housing 
would not be in accordance with the objectives of sustainable development and would 
undermine the adopted spatial strategy for additional housing. The proposed development 
was therefore determined to represent unsustainable development in respect of its location. 
The conclusions and determination of this appeal is considered to be of significant weight in 
the consideration of the current application. 
 

6.5 The most recently determined application on the site, ref: DC/22/1187, differed from the 
previous applications, with the proposal seeking to retain the clock tower and stable building 
which would be converted to 1no. dwelling. An existing cottage and garage building was also 
to be demolished, with the erection of 2no. dwellings.  While this preceding proposal sought 
to retain part of the complex of buildings, with a net increase of 2no. dwellings, it was 
acknowledged that the application site remained outside of the defined built-up area, on a 
site not allocated for housing within the Local Plan or a made Neighbourhood Plan. The 
policy conflict as previously identified and considered at appeal therefore remained. 
Accordingly, it was concluded that the proposed development would be in conflict with the 
spatial strategy for housing within the development plan as set out in Policies, 2, 3, and 4 of 
the HDPF. In addition, the proposal would not meet any of the exceptions as identified within 
Policy 26 of the HDPF. This decision is currently subject of an appeal which at an early stage. 
 

6.7 The current application seeks the partial demolition of existing buildings, the conversion of 
the existing Clocktower to 1no. 5-bed dwelling, and 1no. new build 5-bed dwelling. The 
Planning Statement outlines that a review of the existing buildings has determined that the 
Clock Tower and Stables are worthy of preservation, with the proposal seeking to convert 
these buildings to a single dwelling. The cottage and tractor shed are however in a poor state 
of repair, with various additions to the building of limited merit. This building is proposed to 
be demolished, with the proposal seeking 1no. new build dwelling to reflect the proportions 
and built characteristics of similar buildings on the site.  
 

6.8 The Planning Statement makes reference to the presence of several existing dwellings on 
the site which have formerly been used as staff accommodation. Reference to Council Tax 
payments is made within the Statement, albeit no evidence of these bills has been provided 
to substantiate this. It is noted that a letter from the General Manager/Head Trustee 
contained within the Supplemental Report refers to this as empty property Council Tax which 
is paid annually. The Statement also acknowledges that the dwellings have not been used 
by the Nursing Home in excess of 6 years, with the photographic evidence provided and the 
findings of the site visit indicating that the buildings have fallen into disuse. The Planning 
Statement outlines that the buildings are now dangerous, with the Planning Statement 
confirming that this has been the case for some time. 
 

6.9 The evidence available indicates that the existing buildings are currently not capable of 
occupation and have not been occupied for some years (in excess of 6 years as outlined 
within the Planning Statement). Reference was made to staff now being accommodated 
elsewhere at Honeywood House during the site visit, albeit that no information is available to 

Page 61



substantiate this. As evident from the site visit, the buildings are not capable of occupation 
in their current state, and would require substantive works to bring them to a standard 
suitable for occupation. It is noted that the buildings have been left vacant for an extended 
period of time, are in a partial degraded and derelict state, and there seems to have been a 
lack of intent to bring them back into use. Taking these factors into account, on the matter of 
fact and degree, it is not considered that the buildings are capable of occupation, and the 
weight to be afforded as residential dwellings is therefore limited.   
 

6.10 It is also noted that the former staff accommodation would likely have operated as ancillary 
to the main function of the site as a care home. Activities generated by the staff 
accommodation would have been linked with the care home, with the presence of staff 
accommodation on site limiting vehicular movements and trips. In contrast, the proposed 
development would be unrelated to Honeywood House, comprising private market dwellings. 
There is also a suggestion that staff accommodation has been relocated from the buildings 
to elsewhere on the site. If this is the case, it would not be considered that the development 
would result in a two for two replacement.   
 

6.11 Notwithstanding this, it is noted that the Applicant makes reference to the site being 
Previously Developed Land.  
 

6.12 Policy 2 of the HDPF states that the effective use of land by reusing land that has been 
previously developed (brownfield land) will be encouraged provided that it is not of high 
environmental value. The aim of this policy is to encourage the appropriate re-use of 
brownfield sites in sustainable locations, locating new development in sustainable locations 
that respect environmental capacity and which have appropriate infrastructure, services and 
facilities in place, or in places where these can be realistically provided. 
 

6.13 Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should avoid isolated homes in the 
countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply: 

 
a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of a 

farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside;  
b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would be 

appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets;  
c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its immediate 

setting;  
d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential building; or 
e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:  

-  is truly outstanding, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and would help 
to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and  

-  would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area. 

 
6.14 It is noted that the Planning Inspector considered whether the proposed dwellings would be 

isolated in the truest sense, and it was concluded that they would not be isolated due to the 
proximity of the Nursing Home. It is not therefore considered that paragraph 80 of the NPPF 
is engaged.  
 

6.15 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states that "planning policies and decisions should promote an 
effective use of land in meeting the needs for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and 
improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions." Paragraph 120 
continues that planning policies should encourage multiple benefits from both urban and rural 
land; recognise that some undeveloped land can perform many functions; give substantial 
weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and other 
identified needs; and promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land supply 
is constrained. 

Page 62



 
6.16 While it is acknowledged that the application site comprises previously developed land, the 

spatial strategy and directive from the NPPF guides development to previously developed 
land within settlements, where it is considered to be more sustainable.  
 

6.17 The proposed development would provide 2no. residential dwellings, considered to be a 
modest contribution to the Council’s housing supply. As previously determined at appeal, the 
site is considered to be an inappropriate location for housing, which would undermine the 
overarching spatial strategy. Talking into account recent appeal decisions, and previous 
decisions on the site, the proposed development is considered to be in conflict with the spatial 
strategy for housing within the development plan as set out in Policies, 2, 3, and 4 of the 
HDPF. In addition, the proposal would not meet any of the exceptions as identified within 
Policy 26 of the HDPF. The proposal would not therefore provide a suitable location for 
housing with regard to the spatial strategy within the Development Plan. While recognised 
that the proposed development would contribute to identified housing need, the benefit of 
2no. dwellings to the Council’s housing land supply would be limited when considered in the 
planning balance, and would not outweigh the conflict identified with Policies 2, 3, 4, and 26 
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).  
 
Design and Appearance:  
 

6.18 Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the HDPF promote development that protects, conserves and 
enhances the landscape character from inappropriate development. Proposal should take 
into account landscape characteristics, with development seeking to provide an attractive, 
functional and accessible environment that complements the locally distinctive character of 
the district. Buildings should contribute to a sense of place, and should be of a scale, 
massing, and appearance that is of a high standard or design and layout which relates 
sympathetically to the landscape and built surroundings. 

 
6.19 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments 

function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local 
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting; 
establish a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types 
and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit; 
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 
mix of development; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible. 
 

6.20 Policy RNP7 of the draft Rudgwick Neighbourhood Plan states that new development should 
contribute positively to the character of Rudgwick and should be designed with reference to 
the surrounding architecture, paying particular attention to features of local vernacular and 
locally characteristic details. Policy RNP8 continues that the scale and massing of new 
development should always be in harmony with the surrounding built and natural 
environment. In addition, Policy RNP6 of the draft plan states that development should utilise 
materials that reflect the common building styles across the Parish. 

 
6.21 Honeywood House is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset, with the 

outbuildings contributing to the character and distinctiveness of the site as a whole. It is noted 
that these outbuildings have fallen into disrepair, with their demolition considered favourable 
given the parking requirements and needs of the nursing home. However, these outbuildings 
are considered to inform the character of the site as a whole, relating to and demonstrating 
the evolution of the site, and as such are considered to contribute to the setting of the non-
designated heritage asset.  
 

6.22 As stated within paragraph 135 of the NPPF "the effect on an application on the significance 
of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account…in weighing applications 
that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 

Page 63



required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset". A balanced judgement is therefore required between the contribution these buildings 
make to the significance of the non-designated heritage asset, and the public benefit of 
additional car parking.  
 

6.23 The outbuildings are considered to contribute to the setting of the non-designated heritage 
asset, and their loss would be regrettable. However, it is recognised that given the 
significance of the building, and in particular the views from the approach, the proposed 
location would have the least visual impact upon the principal building.  

 
6.24 The surroundings are characterised by open countryside, with sporadic residential 

development, primarily of detached Sussex vernacular, with some examples of semi-
detached properties. Given the sporadic nature of development, there is no definable build 
pattern, or character style. 
 

6.25 The proposed development has been designed to take consideration of the arrangement and 
relationship of the historic built form, with the form and appearance of the buildings 
considered to be appropriately reflective of the historic built arrangement. The proposed 
development is therefore considered to relate sympathetically to the surrounding built 
character and form and is considered to sit appropriately within the setting of the non-
designated heritage asset, in accordance with Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the Horsham District 
Planning Framework (2015).  
 
Amenity Impacts:  
 

6.26 Policy 32 of the HDPF states that development will be expected to provide an attractive, 
functional, accessible, safe, and adaptable environment that contributes a sense of place 
both in the buildings and spaces themselves. Policy 33 continues that development shall be 
required to ensure that it is designed to avoid unacceptable harm to the amenity of 
occupiers/users of nearby property and land. 
 

6.27 The proposed development would be set at a distance from the nearest residential 
properties, and would be oriented to face away immediate neighbour. Adequate space would 
be provided between each of the proposed dwellings, with sufficient amenity space provided 
to the rear. It is therefore considered that the proposed development has been designed to 
address potential amenity impacts, in accordance with Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham 
District Planning Framework (2015).  
 
Highways Impacts:  
 

6.28 Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate 
access, suitable for all users. 
 

6.29 The proposal seeks to utilise the existing access and driveway which extends to the north-
west of the nursing home. Following consultation with WSCC Highways, no objections have 
been raised to the use of this access, and it is not considered that any further vehicle 
movements (caused by the additional dwellings on the site) would result in harm to the 
function and safety of the public highway network. Furthermore, the extension to the existing 
access to provide additional overflow parking is not considered to result in harm to the 
function of the access or public right of way to justify a reason for refusal. 
 

6.30 The proposal is therefore considered to provide adequate parking provision, suitable for all 
users, in accordance with Policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).  
 

  

Page 64



Ecology: 
 

6.31 Policy 31 of the HDPF states that development will be supported where it demonstrates that 
it maintains or enhances the existing network of green infrastructure. Development proposals 
will be required to contribute to the enhancement of existing biodiversity, and should create 
and manage new habitats where appropriate. 
 

6.32 The Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Preliminary Roose 
Assessment reference 001 dated 23.05.2022 by aLyne ecology. The Report identifies five 
building (B1, B2, B3, B4 and B5) which contain high potential for roosting bats. The Report 
concludes that further surveys are required for bats (dusk emergence or dawn re-entry) for 
the identified buildings.   
 

6.33 The Applicant has submitted a Bat Emergence Report by Lizard Landscape Design and 
Ecology reference LLD2307 dated 16 September 2022. The Report outlines that the 
buildings support day roosts for common and soprano pipistrelle, brown log-eared and 
serotine bats who utilise the chapel and surrounding buildings. To ensure the favourable 
conservation status of bats in the local area, mitigation measures are proposed. These 
include, the installation of crevice and cavity bats boxes to surrounding mature trees or 
buildings; a tool box talk given to all contractors during construction phase; ecological 
supervision during construction works; transportation of any bats encountered to pre-
installed bat boxes; only undertake works when the buildings are declared bat free; and no 
use of BRM.  

 
6.34 If the development had been considered acceptable, the mitigation measures as proposed 

would have been secured by condition.  
 
Water Neutrality: 
 

6.35 Natural England has issued a Position Statement for applications within the Sussex North 
Water Supply Zone which states that it cannot be concluded with the required degree of 
certainty that new development in this zone would not have an adverse effect on the integrity 
of the Arun Valley SAC, SPA and Ramsar sites. 
 

6.36 Natural England advises that plans and projects affecting sites where an existing adverse 
effect is known will be required to demonstrate, with sufficient certainty, that they will not 
contribute further to an existing adverse effect. The received advice note advises that the 
matter of water neutrality should be addressed in assessments to agree and ensure that 
water use is offset for all new developments within the Sussex North Water Supply Zone. 

 
6.37 The application site falls outside of the Sussex North Supply Zone, with the site sourcing its 

water from Cranleigh. The Applicant has provided a copy of emails confirming this, with the 
Sussex North Water Supply Map also confirming that the site is outside of the catchment 
area.  
 
Climate Change: 
 

6.38 Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change 
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water 
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These 
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions 
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.  
 

6.39 Should the development be approved, the following measures to build resilience to climate 
change and reduce carbon emissions would be secured through condition:- 

 
- 110 litres per person per day water consumption 

Page 65



- Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity 
- Refuse and recycling storage 
- Cycle parking facilities 
- Electric vehicle charging points 
 

6.40 Had the application been recommended for approval, subject to these conditions the 
application will suitably reduce the impact of the development on climate change in 
accordance with local and national policy.  
 
Other Matters: 
 

6.41 It is noted that the development also seeks to divert the public footpath. Had the application 
been considered acceptable in all other regards, this would require the submission of a 
separate application under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
Planning Balance and Conclusions: 
 

6.42 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF requires that all development plans complete their reviews no 
later than 5 years from their adoption. Horsham District Council is currently in the process of 
reviewing its development plan however at this stage the emerging policies carry only limited 
weight in decision making.  As the HDPF is now over 5 years old, the relevant policies for 
the determination of this application must be considered as to whether they are ‘out of date’ 
(NPPF paragraph 11d).  
 

6.43 Recent appeal decisions at Rascals Farm, Shipley Road (APP/Z3825/W/20/3257700) and 
Land South of Newhouse Farm, Crawley Road (APP/Z3825/W/21/3266503) have 
considered the local housing need of the District, where it has been determined that the 
Council does not currently benefit from a 5-year housing land supply. Given this conclusion, 
the tilted balance contained in paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged.  

 
6.44 Paragraph 11(d) states that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 

policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, planning 
permission should be granted unless the application of policies in this Framework that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  
 

6.45 The proposed development would not accord with the spatial strategy as set out in Policies 
2, 3,4 and 26 of the HDPF, however as concluded within the recent appeal decisions, these 
policies are not fully compliant with the NPPF. In addition, given the housing shortfall as 
identified in these appeals, the conflict with these policies must be afforded a reduced weight. 
The proposed development would contribute to the identified housing need of the District, 
and given the identified need, the benefits arising from this would be of significant weight in 
the planning balance. However, it is recognised that the proposal would contribute only 2no. 
dwellings (considered a net increase of 2 for the reasons outlined in the preceding section) 
to the housing supply and would therefore make only a small and limited contribution in this 
regard.  
 

6.46 Since these recent appeal decisions however, there have been further appeal decisions for 
single dwellings located outside the built up area boundaries, and these have been dismissed 
for reasons of conflict with the spatial strategy. In considering these appeals, the Planning 
Inspector made specific reference to the lack of the Council’s 5 year housing supply and 
acknowledged that the proposals would make effective use of previously developed land, 
contribute to housing in the District and could make an important contribution to meeting the 
housing requirement of an area as small sized sites are often built-out relatively quickly. In 
both these appeal decisions the Planning Inspector concluded in the planning balance that 
while some economic advantages would arise from the construction of the proposed 

Page 66



dwelling, the benefits would be limited by the modest scale of the development for a single 
dwelling.  
 

6.47 A recent appeal relating to Outline permission for 7no. dwellings in the countryside (but 
adjacent to a settlement boundary) has been considered under reference 
APP/Z3825/W/21/3280084. The Inspector recognised that the site would not accord with 
Policies 2, 3, 4, and 26 of the HDPF. It was noted that future occupiers would need to travel 
to reach facilities including a secondary school, comprehensive shopping facilities, and 
significant employment. While there would be some opportunity to do so by bicycle or bus, 
when considered alongside the distances to other destinations with a wider range of facilities, 
it was considered that occupiers would be likely to rely on private vehicles for many journeys, 
contrary to objectives within the NPPF to promote sustainable transport. It was however, also 
acknowledged that the small scale of development would mean that the adverse impacts 
would be limited. Nevertheless, the development was considered to conflict with the spatial 
strategy for the District and the aforementioned policies. The Inspector acknowledged that 
the development would result in direct and indirect benefits, but given the relatively small 
scale of the development, the benefits would be fairly limited. As such, these benefits were 
given modest weight, with the development considered an unsuitable site for housing due to 
the position of the majority of the site within the countryside. 
 

6.48 The proposed development would be of a modest scale, on land distanced from the nearest 
built-up area and within a countryside location. The proposed development would therefore 
be in conflict with the spatial strategy for housing within the development plan as set out in 
Policies, 2, 3, and 4 of the HDPF. In addition, the proposal would not meet any of the 
exceptions as identified within Policy 26 of the HDPF. The proposal would not therefore 
provide a suitable location for housing with regard to the spatial strategy within the 
Development Plan. While recognised that the proposed development would contribute to the 
identified housing need, the benefit of 3no. dwellings to the Council’s housing land supply 
would be limited when considered in the planning balance, and would not outweigh the 
conflict identified with Policies 2, 3, 4, and 26 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 
(2015).  
 

6.49 It is noted that the Planning Statement makes reference to the development being proposed 
to provide financial support for the Care Home. The Applicant has submitted a Supplemental 
Report with respect to the Maintenance Schedule dated September 2022. This references 
the financial difficulties the Care Home has faced in the last 18 months, outlining the long 
term financial instability and the deficit to date. The Supplemental Report outlines that the 
Care Home is in need of essential building work, with funds raised through the development 
intended to be used for the essential repair works as well as enhancing the building’s energy 
efficiency to reduce utility bills and monthly expenditure.  

 
6.50 The Maintenance Plan makes clear that the proposed development is sought to address the 

short and medium term financial requirements of the Care Home, with the reasons provided 
for this suggesting that this is considered the most viable option. It is outlined that other 
options, which includes increasing resident charges, are not considered appropriate. While 
there is some empathy toward this position, it is not considered that the desire to avoid this 
option is sufficient enough to justify the proposed development, particularly given the 
countryside location. 
 

6.51 It is however noted that the Planning Statement has addressed the viability of retaining all 
buildings on site, which are considered in themselves to be non-designated heritage assets. 
The Planning Statement outlines that the tractor shed and cottage are not considered 
appropriate for conversion, and while no structural report has been provided to evidence this 
in detail, having reviewed the state of the building, this is not disputed. The proposal would 
utilise the remaining buildings (comprising the Clock Tower and Stables) which are 
considered capable of conversion, with the new build element seeking to reflect the form and 
build characteristics of the adjacent buildings. The proposal would enable the continued use 

Page 67



of buildings considered worthy of retention, with the sale of the properties facilitating the 
continued operation of the Care Home. These are considered to be material considerations 
that would result in some public benefit, and are considered of weight in the planning 
assessment.  
 

6.52 While noted that the cost of the maintenance works is relatively substantial, the income 
generated from the sale of the development would likely be far greater than the financial 
deficit presented within the supporting information. Clarification of this ambiguity was sought 
during the previous submissions, but no additional justification or detail was provided by the 
Applicant at the time or since. It is however noted that the quantum of development has been 
reduced since the initial applications and the most recent, with the proposed development 
now relating to 2no. dwellings. While it is acknowledged that no quantifiable information has 
been provided, the income generated from the sale of the development would be reduced 
from that previously considered, with the opportunity of these funds to provide continued 
support for the Care Home. As noted above, the continuance of this charitable organisation 
would offer public benefits, and this is of weight in the consideration.  
 

6.53 The proposed development relates to 2no. private market residential dwellings located 
outside the built-up area and within a countryside location. The development would be 
contrary to the overarching spatial strategy and would not meet the exceptions as identified 
within Policy 26 of the HDPF. The proposals would make a modest contribution to housing 
supply, and it is not considered that this would outweigh the conflict with Policies 2, 3, 4, and 
26 of the HDPF. The development would, in part, enable the continued use of buildings 
worthy of retention, with the development offering financial support to the continued operation 
of the charitable organisation. The development would offer public benefits in this regard. 
However, this would not be a long-term solution to the continued needs of the Care Home, 
offering a limited solution to the financial viability of the organisation. While there would be 
public, social, and economic benefits to the Care Home, it is not considered that this would 
outweigh the harm as identified. For these reasons, the proposed development is considered 
to be contrary to Policies 1, 2, 3, 4, and 26 of the HDPF, with the benefits arising from the 
scheme not considered to outweigh this. 
 
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 

6.54 Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017. 
 

6.55 It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. 
 
Use Description Proposed Existing Net Gain  

   

District Wide Zone 1 681.15 263.8 417.35  
 

 Total Gain  
   

 Total Demolition 362.8 
 

6.56 Please note that the above figures will be reviewed by the CIL Team prior to issuing a CIL 
Liability Notice and may therefore change. 
 

6.57 Exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement of a chargeable 
development. 
 

6.58 In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued 
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development. 

 
 
  

Page 68



7. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 To refuse the application for the following reason: 
 

1 The proposed development would be sited within an unsustainable location in the 
countryside, outside of a defined built-up area boundary, and on a site not allocated 
for housing development within the Horsham District Planning Framework, or a made 
Neighbourhood Plan. Furthermore, the proposed development is not essential to its 
countryside location. Notwithstanding the absence of a five-year land housing supply, 
and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) at paragraph 
11(d), it is not considered that there are any material considerations in this instance 
which would outweigh harm arising from conflict with Policies 1, 2, 3, 4 and 26 of the 
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
 
 
 
Background Papers: DC/22/2037 
 DC/22/1187 

DC/20/0562 
DC/19/0291 
DC/16/2637 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Farm

CH

House

Honeywood

Tra
ck

Pat
h (u

m
)

C
o

 C
o

n
st B

d
y

Canada Bungalow

Honeywood

Icehouse (disused)

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO.  ©  Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Scale:

07) DC/22/2037

Honeywood House, Horsham Road, Rowhook, Horsham, 
West Sussex, RH12 3QD

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Horsham District Council

26/01/2023

100023865

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Contact Officer: Shazia Penne Tel: 01403 215  258 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT 

 

TO: Planning Committee  

BY: Head of Development and Building Control 

DATE: 7th February 2023 

DEVELOPMENT: Erection of canopy for standing spectators. 

SITE: Roffey Football Club Bartholomew Way Horsham West Sussex RH12 5JL    

WARD: Holbrook East 

APPLICATION: DC/22/1474 

APPLICANT: Roffey Football Club 

 
REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The application site is located on land owned by 

Horsham District Council  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions 
 
 
1. THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 

 
1.1 To consider the planning application. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION 
 

1.2 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a canopy for standing 
spectators at the Roffey Football Club, Bartholomew Way, Horsham. The complex is 
comprised of a clubhouse, located to the north of the football club entrance, which is flanked 
by one football pitch to the east and one to the west. The proposed spectator stand is to be 
located to the north of the eastern most football pitch. The spectator stand would be set in 
front of the mature tree belt that delineates the football pitches from the south.  

 
1.3 In terms of scale, the proposed spectator stand would measure 2.1m in height at the rear 

(south) elevation, which rises slightly at the front elevation to 2.33m; the structure would have 
a flat roof. The length of the spectator stand would be approximately 12.53m and the depth 
would measure 2.09m.  

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE 
 

1.4 The application site is located on the Bartholomew Way within the built-up area of Horsham. 
The site sits directly to the south of the A264. The complex is comprised of a clubhouse, a 
timber clad building with half hipped roof to the north of the site, which is flanked by one 
football pitch to the east and one to the west. A car park is located to the south of the building 
(between the pitches). The pitches are surrounded by extensive mature landscaping. The 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



application site has an existing spectator stand located to the north approved under Ref: 
DC/16/0592.  

 
 
2. INTRODUCTION 
 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
2.2 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application: 
 

2.3 National Planning Policy Framework 
 

2.4 Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015) 
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development   
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character  
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity  
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development  
Policy 33 - Development Principles  
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport  
Policy 41 - Parking  
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities 
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation  

 
2.5 RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

North Horsham has not been designated a Neighbourhood Plan area. 
 
2.6 PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS  

DC/16/0592 The erection of a covered spectator stand for 100 
persons 

Application Permitted on 
26.05.20166.1  

 
3. OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS 
 
3.1 Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have 

had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public 
file at www.horsham.gov.uk  

 
 INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS 

 
3.2 HDC Compliance Officer: No Comment.  
 
3.3 HDC Environmental Health Officer: No Objection subject to conditions.  

 
 OUTSIDE AGENCIES 

 
3.4 WSCC Highways: No Objection. 

 
3.5 Sports England: No Objection. 

 
3.6 Natural England: Standing Advice:- 
 

It cannot be concluded that existing abstraction within the Sussex North Water Supply Zone 
is not having an adverse effect on the integrity of the Arun Valley SAC/SPA/Ramsar sites. 
Developments within Sussex North must therefore must not add to this impact and one way 
of achieving this is to demonstrate water neutrality.  The definition of water neutrality is the 

Page 74

http://www.horsham.gov.uk/


use of water in the supply area before the development is the same or lower after the 
development is in place.  

 
3.7 To achieve this Natural England is working in partnership with all the relevant authorities to 

secure water neutrality collectively through a water neutrality strategy.  Whilst the strategy is 
evolving, Natural England advises that decisions on planning applications should await its 
completion. However, if there are applications which a planning authority deems critical to 
proceed in the absence of the strategy, then Natural England advises that any application 
needs to demonstrate water neutrality. 
 

3.8 North Horsham Parish Comments: No Objection - The Parish Council support this 
application if there are appropriate litter bins installed. Members commented that any growth 
membership of the football club needs to have parking issues and changing facilities 
considered. 

 
 PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS 
  
3.9 During the original consultation period, 3 letters of representation have been received (from 

3 separate addresses) in connection with this proposal neither objecting nor supporting the 
application but raising the following concerns: 

 
• Impact on highways and accessibility 
• Overflow parking 
• Loss of trees and landscaping 

 
 
4. HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
4.1 Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council has a legal duty to pay 'due regard' to the need to 

eliminate discrimination and promote equality, fostering good relations in respect of Race, 
Disability, Gender including gender reassignment, Age, Sexual Orientation, Pregnancy and 
maternity, Religion or belief. The Equality Act 2010 will form part of the planning assessment 
below.  

 
4.2 Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol 

(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application.  
 
4.3 Consideration of Human Rights and Equalities forms part of the planning assessment below. 
 
 
5. HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER 
 
5.1 It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on 

crime and disorder. 
 
 
6. PLANNING ASSESSMENTS 
 
 Principle of Development  
  
6.1 Policy 43 of the HDPF states that the provision of new or improved community facilities or 

services will be supported. 
 
6.2 The application site comprises public open space, providing a recreation ground, playing 

fields and associated facilities for the residents of North Horsham. The site and facilities are 
currently open for use by the public with the land subject of a 25-year lease with Roffey FC 
for use as their football ground. 

Page 75



 
6.3 The proposal seeks to meet the league requirements following a promotion through the 

local/regional leagues. The proposal would support the continued provision of the sport 
facility using the playing field and would result in no loss of access to the public open space. 
Sport England have been consulted on the proposal and have raised no objection to the 
scheme. The principle of the development is therefore considered acceptable.  

 
Character and Appearance 

 
6.4 Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF seek to ensure that development promotes a high standard 

and quality of design in order to enhance and protect locally distinctive characters.  The 
policies also seek to ensure that the scale, massing and appearance of development relates 
sympathetically with the built surroundings, landscape, open spaces and routes within and 
adjoining the site, including any impact on the skyline and important views. 

 
6.5 The proposed spectator stand is of a functional design as is common for football/rugby clubs 

of this nature. The spectator stand is set in front of the mature tree belt that delineates the 
football pitches from the north and is sited adjacent to an existing spectator stand. The 
proposal would be similar in scale and proportion to the existing spectator stand and would 
sit comfortably within this context.  

 
6.6 In addition, the spectator stand would be located in front of substantial tree screening set 

back at a reasonable distance within the boundary of the site, as to not create significant 
harm or impact to this planting. 

 
6.7 As such the proposal would be of a design, form and scale which is appropriate to the 

character and appearance of the site, and which would not harm the character or appearance 
of the wider area.  It is therefore considered that the visual impact of the proposal is 
acceptable and would accord with the above policies. 

 
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 

 
6.8 Policy 33 of the HDPF states that permission will be granted for development that does not 

cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of the occupiers/users of nearby properties and 
land.  

 
6.9 The spectator stand is proposed to the northern side of the site (parallel with the A264) and 

would be set away from the nearby residential properties.  The proposal would not amount 
to a change of use, and given the distance between the proposed building and the 
neighbouring properties to the south it is considered that there would be no unacceptable 
impacts on neighbouring amenity.  The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the 
above policy. 

 
Parking, Access and Traffic 

 
6.10 Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF relate to transport and access, it confirms that development 

will be permitted if it provides a safe and adequate means of access and makes adequate 
provision for all users, including for car and other vehicle parking.  

 
6.11 The Local Highway Authority has been consulted in relation to the planning application and 

has confirmed that Roffey Football Club are already operating from this location and 
generating a number of traffic movements, particularly on match days.  The proposed stand 
would not increase capacity at the ground, instead representing an improvement on the 
existing facilities provided at the site.  The proposal would not therefore represent any 
intensification of use which would result in additional vehicle movements to or from the site.  
As a result, the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result 
in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway network, and there are no 

Page 76



transport grounds to resist the proposal.  It is therefore considered that the development 
would accord policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF in this respect.  

 
Water Neutrality 

 
6.12 The proposal is for the erection of a canopy for standing spectators. There is therefore no 

clear or compelling evidence to suggest the nature and scale of the proposed development 
would result in a more intensive use of the facility necessitating an increased consumption 
of water that would result in a significant impact on the Arun Valley SAC, SPA and Ramsar 
sites, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects. The grant of planning 
permission would not therefore adversely affect the integrity of these sites or otherwise 
conflict with policy 31 of the HDPF, NPPF paragraph 180 and the Council's obligations under 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
 Conclusion 
 
6.13 The proposed stand is an appropriate structure and would be sympathetic to the appearance 

and use of the football club.  The stand in itself would not alter the current capacity for the 
facility, with spectators now being able stand under a shelter.  In addition, the proposal would 
improve facilities for the community asset.  

  
 
7. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 To approve planning permission subject to the following conditions:- 
 

1 A list of the approved plans 
 
 2 Standard Time Condition:  The development hereby permitted shall begin before 

the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason:  To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 3 Pre-Use Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be used until 

details of the external finish, including any paint / stain of the approved building, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the agreed details. 

  
 Reason:  As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to 

control the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to 
achieve a building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham 
District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
 4 Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other 

than with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application. 
 

Reason:  In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy 
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
 5 Regulatory Condition: No work for the implementation of the development herby 

permitted (including deliveries and dispatch) shall be undertaken on the site except 
between 08.00 hours and 18:00 hours on Monday to Fridays inclusive and 08.00 
hours and 13:00 hours on Saturdays, and no work shall be undertaken on Sundays, 
Bank and Public Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

  

Page 77



 Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby residents in accordance with Policy 
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015). 

 
 
 
Background Papers: DC/22/1474 

Page 78



9
8

5
4

62

55

18

36
39

37

12

19

70

24

76
81

84
20

66

32

28

53

80

49

86

85

33

57

61

67
64

73
75

40
44

A2649

55

9

70

Recreation Ground

6

1

Play Area

62

19

87

34

21

35

FB

FB

FB

LB

SP

SH
O

TTE
R

M
ILL

EARLES MEADOW

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain
MP 36.0 Ppg Sta

Ward Bdy

Collects

P
at

h 
(u

m
)

ED & Ward Bdy

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO.  ©  Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Scale:

08) DC/22/1474

Roffey Football Club, Bartholomew Way, Horsham, West Sussex, 
RH12 5JL

1:2,500

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Horsham District Council

26/01/2023

100023865

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
	VOTING PROCEDURE AT PLANNING COMMITTEE

	2 Minutes
	5 Appeals
	Date: 7th February 2023
	Report on Appeals: 16/12/2022 – 25/01/2023

	6 DC/21/2873 Nowhurst Business Park, Guildford Road, Broadbridge Heath
	06) DC-21-2873 plan

	7 DC/22/2037 Honeywood House, Horsham Road, Rowhook, Horsham
	07) DC-22-2037 plan

	8 DC/22/1474 Roffey Football Club, Bartholomew Way, Horsham
	08) DC-22-1474 plan


